Western University Scholarship@Western

Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository

6-29-2018 10:30 AM

Role of STIP1 in TDP-43 Mediated Toxicity and Proteinopathy in Neurodegenerative Disorders

Abdul Razzaq, The University of Western Ontario

Supervisor: Prado, Marco A.M., *The University of Western Ontario* Co-Supervisor: Beraldo, Flavio H., *The University of Western Ontario* Co-Supervisor: Prado, Vania F., *The University of Western Ontario* A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Master of Science degree in Neuroscience © Abdul Razzaq 2018

Follow this and additional works at: https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd

Part of the Molecular and Cellular Neuroscience Commons

Recommended Citation

Razzaq, Abdul, "Role of STIP1 in TDP-43 Mediated Toxicity and Proteinopathy in Neurodegenerative Disorders" (2018). *Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository*. 5442. https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd/5442

This Dissertation/Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by Scholarship@Western. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository by an authorized administrator of Scholarship@Western. For more information, please contact wlswadmin@uwo.ca.

Abstract

A common hallmark of neurodegenerative disorders is the abnormal aggregation of misfolded proteins. Aggregates of phosphorylated TAR-DNA-binding protein-43 (TDP-43) are found in multiple neurodegenerative disorders. The molecular chaperones Hsp70 and Hsp90 have been shown to be key modulators of TDP-43 phosphorylation and expression, however the mechanisms behind how this interaction occur are unclear. Stress-Inducible PhosphoProtein 1 (STIP1) is a critical co-chaperone linking Hsp90 to Hsp70 to modulate chaperone client stability. In this study, we evaluated the potential role of STIP1 in TDP-43 stability and cellular toxicity. We demonstrated that STIP1 interacts with TDP-43 and the deletion of STIP1 leads to decreased TDP-43 protein expression in SN56 cells. In contrast, partial reduction of STIP1 in mice led to an increase in TDP-43 levels. Additionally, the deletion of STIP1 increased TDP-43 cytotoxicity in SN56 cells, whereas TDP-43 toxicity could be ameliorated by overexpressing STIP1 suggesting that STIP1 modulates TDP-43 toxicity and proteinopathy.

Keywords: Neurodegenerative disorders, ALS, TDP-43, STIP1, Hsp70, Hsp90, Molecular chaperones, Co-chaperones, Clients, Protein misfolding

Co-Authorship Statement

All experiments except for the generation of SN56 KO cells were conducted solely by the author.

Acknowledgments

I would like to thank Dr. Marco Prado, Dr. Flavio Beraldo and Dr. Vania Prado for the opportunity to complete my master's degree in their laboratory. I am tremendously grateful for all the resources and mentorship I have received in the past two years. I would also like to acknowledge my advisory committee members Dr. Martin Duennwald, Dr. Gary Shaw, and Dr. Stephen Pasternak for their time and feedback during my committee meetings. Together, your guidance has been extremely valuable to me as I progressed through my master's degree.

My project would not be possible without the generous help I have received from Rachel Lackie and Marilene Lopes who taught me how to perform all the biochemical experiments that I used in my research. I am forever grateful for the countless hours they have dedicated in the lab, microscope room and the cell culture room.

I would also like to thank Jue Fan and Sanda, Raulic who have supported me throughout my time in the lab. From ordering products to support my research and helping me stay organized, you have laid the foundation for all my work in the past two years. I would also like to thank Dr. Strong's lab for generously sharing their TDP-43 plasmids.

Lastly, I would like to thank my parents Parveen Razzaq and Mohammed Razzaq. I would not have been able to accomplish anything without your unconditional love and relentless support.

Table of Contents

| A | bstra | ct | iii | | | |
|----|----------------------|---|------|--|--|--|
| C | o-Au | thorship Statement | iv | | | |
| A | ckno | wledgments | v | | | |
| Та | Table of Contents vi | | | | | |
| Li | ist of | Figures | ix | | | |
| A | ppen | dices | xi | | | |
| 1 | Intr | oduction and Literature Review | 1 | | | |
| | 1.1 | Neurodegenerative Disorders | 1 | | | |
| | 1.2 | Protein Misfolding | 3 | | | |
| | 1.3 | Molecular Chaperones | 7 | | | |
| | 1.4 | Hsp70 | . 11 | | | |
| | 1.5 | Hsp90 | . 13 | | | |
| | 1.6 | Stress-inducible Phosphoprotein 1 | . 19 | | | |
| | 1.7 | The Role of Molecular Chaperones in Neurodegenerative Disorders | . 23 | | | |
| | 1.8 | TARDP43 (TDP-43) | . 27 | | | |
| | 1.9 | Rationale, Study Aim, and Hypothesis | . 33 | | | |
| 2 | Ma | terials and Methods | . 34 | | | |
| | 2.1 | Animals | . 34 | | | |
| | 2.2 | Ethics | . 34 | | | |
| | 2.3 | Mouse Embryonic Fibroblasts | . 35 | | | |
| | 2.4 | Mouse Embryo Isolation | . 35 | | | |
| | 2.5 | Cell Cultures | . 36 | | | |
| | 2.6 | CRISPR/Cas9 generation of STIP1 HEK293 KO Cells and STIP1 SN56 KO Cells | . 36 | | | |

| | 2.7 SN56 Cellular Differentiation | . 38 |
|---|--|------|
| | 2.8 Western Blotting | . 38 |
| | 2.9 Immunofluorescence | . 40 |
| | 2.10 Quantitative RT-PCR | . 41 |
| | 2.11 Proliferation | . 41 |
| | 2.12 Transfection with GFP Vectors | . 41 |
| | 2.13 Co-Immunoprecipitation | . 42 |
| | 2.14 Cellular death and Viability Assays | . 43 |
| | 2.15 Statistical Analysis | . 44 |
| 3 | Results | . 45 |
| | 3.1 STIP1 interaction with TDP-43 | . 45 |
| | 3.2 TDP-43 interacts with Hsp70 and Hsp90 in the absence of STIP1 | . 47 |
| | 3.3 Hsp90 client protein levels and TDP-43 in cells lacking STIP1 | . 50 |
| | 3.4 STIP1 deletion promotes a reduction in TDP-43 protein levels in both undifferentiated and differentiated SN56 cells | . 55 |
| | 3.5 Increasing TDP-43 levels in SN56 cells does not alter STIP1 levels | . 60 |
| | 3.6 STIP1 elimination does not alter proliferation levels in SN56 cells | . 62 |
| | 3.7 Cellular Toxicity and Viability in SN56 cells | . 64 |
| | 3.8 STIP1 KO SN56 Cells are more susceptible to TDP-43 proteinopathy caused by oxidative stress | . 69 |
| | 3.9 Hsp90 Client and TDP-43 protein levels are reduced in STIP1 ^{-/-} mouse Embryos | . 72 |
| | 3.10 TDP-43 Protein levels are increased in Mouse cortices and Mouse Embryonic Fibroblasts with Reduced STIP1 Levels | . 75 |
| | 3.11 TDP-43 Levels are unaltered in the 5xFAD mouse of Alzheimer's Disease, mice with increased STIP1 levels and in 5xFAD mice with increased STIP1 Levels | . 78 |
| | 3.12 TDP-43 Localization in Nuclear in the frontal lobe of TPR1 Mice | . 80 |
| 4 | Discussion | . 82 |

| | 4.1 STIP | 1 is critical for mammalian cell survival | | | |
|------------------|-----------|---|----|--|--|
| | 4.2 TDP- | 43 as an Hsp90 client | | | |
| | 4.3 STIP | 1 modulates TDP-43 toxicity and proteinopathy | 87 | | |
| | 4.4 TDP- | 43 Localization | 89 | | |
| 5 | Conclusio | n | | | |
| | 5.1 Limit | ations and Future Directions | | | |
| | 5.1.1 | Hsp Clients | | | |
| | 5.1.2 | Rescue of Cellular Toxicity and Viability | | | |
| | 5.1.3 | Mislocalization studies | | | |
| Bibliography | | | | | |
| Curriculum Vitae | | | | | |

List of Figures

| Figure 1: Schematic drawing indicating possible effects of mutations on protein folding |
|--|
| and interactions |
| Figure 2: Functioning of molecular chaperones10 |
| Figure 3: ATPase cycle of Hsp9015 |
| Figure 4: Schematic of STIP1 structure and its regulation by Hsp9022 |
| Figure 5: Mechanisms involved in TDP-43 pathology |
| Figure 6: TDP-43 proteinopathy |
| Figure 7: TDP-43 co-immunoprecipitates with STIP1 in HEK293 Cells46 |
| Figure 8: Generation of STIP1-KO SN56 cells using CRISPR/CAS9 |
| Figure 9: Co-immunoprecipitation of Hsp90, Hsp70 and STIP1 with endogenous TDP-43 in SN56 Cells |
| Figure 10: HSP90 client proteins and co-chaperones levels are unchanged in STIP-KO HEK293 Cells |
| Figure 11: HSP90 client proteins and co-chaperones levels are decreased in STIP-KO SN56 Cells but these levels are rescued when STIP is introduced |
| Figure 12: TDP-43 protein and mRNA expression in SN56 cells |
| Figure 13: STIP1 protein expression in cells with exogenous TDP-43 |
| Figure 14: Proliferation rates in WT and KO SN56 cells63 |
| Figure 15: Cellular toxicity and viability in SN56 cells |

| Figure 16: TDP-43 localization in WT and KO SN56 cells under various conditions70 | | | | | | |
|---|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| Figure 17: Hsp client and co-chaperone protein expression in mice embryos73 | | | | | | |
| Figure 18: Levels of STIP1, and TDP-43 in mice cortices that reduced | | | | | | |
| STIP1 | | | | | | |
| Figure 19: STIP1 and TDP-43 protein expression in the brains of various mouse | | | | | | |
| models | | | | | | |
| Figure 20: TDP-43 localization and intensity in WT and STIP1 Δ TPR1 | | | | | | |
| mice | | | | | | |

Appendices

Animal Protocol Certificate

eSirius Notification - Annual Protocol Renewal APPROVED by the AUS 2016-103;

2016-104

2016-103; 2016-104

AUP Number: 2016-103; 2016-104

AUP Title: a)Elucidating the Function acetylcholine in the central and peripheral nervous system; b)Role of the Cellular Prion Protein in physiological and pathological conditions

Yearly Renewal Date: 03/01/2018

The YEARLY RENEWAL to Animal Use Protocol (AUP) 2016-103; 2016-104 has been approved, and will be approved for one year following the above review date.

- 1. This AUP number must be indicated when ordering animals for this project.
- 2. Animals for other projects may not be ordered under this AUP number.
- 3. Purchases of animals other than through this system must be cleared through the ACVS office.

Health certificates will be required.

REQUIREMENTS/COMMENTS

Please ensure that individual(s) performing procedures on live animals, as described in this protocol, are familiar with the contents of this document.

The holder of this Animal Use Protocol is responsible to ensure that all associated safety components (biosafety, radiation safety, general laboratory safety) comply with institutional safety standards and have received all necessary approvals. Please consult directly with your institutional safety officers.

Submitted by: Kinchlea, Will D on behalf of the Animal Use Subcommittee

1 Introduction and Literature Review

1.1 Neurodegenerative Disorders

Approximately 747,000 Canadians are currently living with some type of a neurodegenerative disorder (Statistics Canada, 2016). These diseases have a tremendous economic burden and currently cost Canadians approximately \$22.7 billion annually and this figure is expected to increase to \$150 Billion by the year 2030 (NeuroScience Canada, 2006).

Neurodegenerative disorders are diseases of the central nervous system that involve the progressive deterioration or death of neurons. This is an umbrella term that encompasses a variety of different disorders. The associated symptoms associated with disease progression depend on the particular group of neurons that are being affected (Amador-Ortiz et al., 2007). Alzheimer's disease (AD) is the most common type of neurodegenerative disorder and involves the degeneration of neurons in various parts of the brain (Schmitz and Spreng, 2016). It has been reported that the basal forebrain cholinergic neurons are amongst the first regions to show AD pathology and degeneration (Schmitz and Spreng, 2016). Other brain regions that are also significantly affected include the temporal lobe, neocortex and limbic system (Coleman and Flood, 1989; Price, 1993; Braak and Braak 1995; Delacourt et al., 1999; Nelson et al., 2007). As a result, the clinical manifestations of AD include cognitive impairments, mood and emotional disturbances and loss of appetite (Simic et al., 2009).

One of the main causes of neuronal death in neurodegenerative disorders is protein misfolding. Misfolded proteins tend to aggregate, as large hydrophobic regions can become exposed and facilitate the formation of protein clumps. The formation of protein aggregates is deleterious because the proteins are unable to remain in their native conformational state and thus become incapable of performing their intrinsic functions (Chiti and Dobson, 2006; Walsh and Selkoe, 2007). Moreover, aggregated proteins can sequester other proteins in cellular deposits and there is evidence that certain misfolded proteins become toxic. Misfolded proteins are observed in a number of neurodegenerative disorders such as Parkinson's, Huntington's, Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis (ALS), Frontotemporal lobar degeneration (FTLD) and Alzheimer's Disease (Yanker et al., 1989; Koh et al., 1990; Pike et al., 1992). For example, Alpha-synuclein, a protein that has been shown to regulate endocytosis and exocytosis, is misfolded and found in abnormal protein aggregates in Parkinson's disease affected individuals (Spillantini et al., 1998; Kalia and Elang, 2015; Lautenschläger et al., 2017). Individuals with Huntington's disease have neuronal inclusions which consist of misfolded Huntingtin proteins that have numerous glutamine repeats in their protein (Hoffner & Djian, 2002; Green 1993). Aggregates in motor neurons of ALS patients can contain several misfolded proteins such as Superoxidase dismutase (SOD1), TARDP-43 (TDP-43) and Fused in Sarcoma (FUS). SOD1 is responsible for breaking down superoxide radicals, which are toxic to the cells, TDP-43 is primarily involved with RNA processing and FUS is a nuclear regulator of gene expression that binds to DNA/RNA (Li et al., 1998; Neumann et al., 2006; Sharma et al., 2016). Genetically, a pathogenic hexanucleotide repeat expansion in the C9orf72 gene is responsible for most inherited ALS and FTLD cases (Murphy et al., 2017). This repeat expansion accounts for

1 out of every 10 ALS patients and is the most commonly identified mutation in both of these disorders to date (Murphy et al., 2017).

3

1.2 Protein Misfolding

In order to prevent the formation of aggregates, proteins must remain properly folded. Specifically, proteins must be folded into precise three-dimensional conformations (Figure 1). This process is aided by molecular chaperones and the cellular quality-control machinery, such as the heat shock protein system, which are discussed in more detail in the following sections (Hartle & Hayer-Hartl, 2009). If these systems are dysfunctional or if client proteins manage to avoid chaperones, protein aggregates may be formed which are most likely to be toxic to cells in which they occur.

Protein misfolding disorders are distinguished by the presence of accumulated abnormal proteins which are associated with cellular dysfunction (Hartle & Hayer-Hartl, 2009). Eukaryotic cells have developed strategies to deal with the continuous bombardment of misfolded proteins that compromise cellular protein homeostasis and endanger cellular viability. These strategies involve a network of molecular chaperones and protein degradation factors that ensure the regulation of proteostasis. This system facilitates misfolded proteins to be either refolded, degraded or delivered to distinct quality control compartments that gather against potentially harmful misfolded species (Chen et al., 2011).

Mammalian cells eradicate misfolded proteins mainly through one of three proteolytic systems. These systems include the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway (UPP),

3

chaperone mediated autophagy (CMA) and macroautophagy. Most intracellular proteins are degraded by the UPP which is the first line of defense for degrading misfolded proteins (Hedge & Upadhya, 2007; Rogel et al., 2010). The UPP is a selective degradation system in which only substrates tagged with ubiquitin, a 8.5 kDa regulatory protein, are processed and degraded. Misfolded proteins are recognized by molecular chaperones, such as CHIP, and may interact with distinct ubiquitin ligases that promote the transfer of ubiquitin to substrates (Ciechanover and Kwon, 2015). The attachment of ubiquitin to this substrate requires a series of enzymatic reactions. Once near the proteasome, these substrates are untagged by deubiquitinating enzymes (DUBs) and reused for future degradation reactions. They are them unfolded into preliminary polypeptide chains which are cleaved into short peptides as they pass through the narrow chamber of the proteasome (Rogel et al., 2010).

Many cytosolic proteins that survive the UPP can be alternatively degraded by the CMA (Klionsky et al., 2010). The heat shock-cognate protein of 70 kDa (hsc70) recognizes a pentapeptide sequence, of a specific charge, in all substrates destined for the CMA. This substrate is then targeted for the lysosome where it is unfolded by lysosomal membrane proteins so that it can cross the lysosomal membrane (Taylor et al., 2003). Once in the lumen, the substrate undergoes complete degradation. The CMA plays a significant role in prolonged starvation amino acids can be recycled for future protein synthesis reactions, although basal CMA activity can be detected in almost all cells (Cuervo and Wong, 2014).

Some misfolded proteins that bypass both the UPP and the CMA or form aggregates undergo macroautophagy (Feng et al., 2014). These substrates are segregated by double membrane structures called autophagosomes. These autophagosomes then fuse with the lysosome where they are degraded by hydrolases (Ciechanover and Kwon, 2015). Almost all substrates are successfully degraded by these proteolytic systems. The dysregulation of these systems or post-translational modification, such as hyperphosphorylation, may cause misfolded proteins to escape these system and form cytotoxic inclusion bodies that underlie the pathogenesis of many neurodegenerative disorders (Sikosek and Chan, 2015).



Figure 1: Schematic drawing indicating possible effects of mutations on protein folding and interactions. Mutations can result in a number of interaction alterations. Mutations that have no effect on the structure of functionally folded protein will allow it to interact as intended with its interaction partners. Mutations that result in structural or functional changes may cause the protein to interact with new partners or render it unable to interact with any partner at all (Adapted from Sikosek and Chan, 2015).

1.3 Molecular Chaperones

The term molecular chaperone was first used to describe nucleoplasmin, a nuclear protein that is essential for the reformation of disrupted chromatin and histone interactions in amphibian eggs (Laskey et al., 1978). Chaperones were initially described as only assisting with the assembly of folded protein subunits into oligometric structures (Ellis, 1978). It was later found that they support the folding of newly synthesized and stressdenatured polypeptide chains (Ellis, 2005 & Hartl, 2004). Proper protein folding is critical for cellular growth, function and survival (Figure 2). Heat shock proteins (Hsps) represent a large proportion of molecular chaperones. Hsps levels are increased in response to high stress conditions such as extreme temperature or oxidative stress (Herczenik & Gebbink, 2008). This response was first observed in *Drosophila* that showed a change in salivary gland transcription rate in response to different incubation temperatures (Ritossa, 1962). Heat shock factor 1 (HSF1) is the primary regulator of heat shock genes. HSF1 is normally located in the cytosol in its inactivated form. Under stress conditions, such as heat and hypoxia, HSF1 becomes activated through trimerization and phosphorylation and migrates to the nucleus (Sun et al., 2000), where it can bind heat-shock element (HSE), found in stress response genes, and upregulate the transcription of heat shock genes leading to an increase in heat shock protein expression (Morimoto, 1998). This heat shock response is critical for the control of cell cycle, protein translation and glucose metabolism (Dai et al., 2007). It is now understood that heat shock proteins are essential for protein quality control and in maintaining homeostatic proteostasis. Hsps are also involved in regulating proteins that have unfolded due to various cellular stressors (Dai et al., 2007).

Heat shock proteins are classified into several families according to their molecular weights: Hsp100s, Hsp90s, Hsp70s, Hsp60s, Hsp40s and small heat shock proteins (sHSPs). These proteins can have either inducible expression or constitutive expression.

Hsp100 functions as a protein disaggregase in bacteria, fungi and plants. It helps solubilize and reactivate proteins that have been misfolded due to severe cellular stress (Glover and Lindquist, 1998; Goloubinoff et al., 1999; Motohashi et al., 1999; Zolkiewski, 1999). Therefore, it has a unique role of providing these organisms with resilience in conditions of tremendous physiological and environmental stress (Sanchez and Lindquist, 1990; Squires et al., 1991; Hong and Vierling, 2000; Queitsch et al., 2000).

Hsp60 is a mitochondrial chaperonin that is responsible for refolding all proteins transported into the mitochondria and it also supports the restoration of any unfolded or misfolded proteins (Hartl, 1996; Ranford and Henderson, 2002; Deocaris et al., 2006). Hsp40 is an evolutionarily conserved chaperone that is constitutively expressed in most cells. It performs numerous functions such as transcriptional and translational regulation as well as facilitation of protein folding (Fan et al., 2003; Qiu et al., 2006; Daugaard, 2007; Vos et al., 2008). The structure and function of Hsp40 has been extensively researched and reviewed in the literature (Kampinga and Craig, 2010). In brief, most Hsp40 proteins contain a J-domain through which they interact with Hsp70 and act as a co-chaperone to assist in the early stages of protein folding (Figure 2). The proteins that molecular chaperones, such as Hsp70, act upon, fold and process are referred to as client proteins. Hsp40 provides client specificity to Hsp70 by either delivering the client to Hsp70 or by activating Hsp70 when the client is nearby.

Small Hsps were first observed in *Drosophila melanogaster* after a heat shock response (Tissières et al., 1974). sHsps are found in almost all organisms and their expression pattern depends on the tissue and the development stage of the cell (Maaroufi and Tanguay, 2013). Different from other heat shock proteins, sHsps are ATP-independent chaperones (Benesch et al., 2008). sHsps interact directly with their substrates and prevent protein misfolding and aggregation by promoting refolding through the Hsp70 chaperone complex (Bruey et al., 2000). Hsp70 and Hsp90 will be discussed in more detail as they are the focus of this project.



Figure 2: Functioning of molecular chaperones. Molecular chaperones help in folding proteins, refolding misfolded proteins and degrading misfolded proteins which are called clients. Co-chaperones assist chaperones in performing these functions. For example, Hsp40 provides client specificity for Hsp70 by binding to unfolded protein strands and recruiting them to Hsp70 for proper folding. Hsp70-interacting protein (HIP), which is a Hsp70 attenuator, also interacts with this complex to delay substrate release. Client proteins can either be folded properly so they can perform their native functions or be ubiquitinated and destined for degradation (Adapted from Kosmaoglou et al., 2008).

The abundantly expressed 70-kDa heat shock proteins (Hsp70s) are highly evolutionarily conserved. These ATP-dependent molecular chaperones are critical to cellular protein surveillance networks and are involved with numerous protein folding processes (Meimaridou et al., 2009; Mayer and Bukau, 2005). Hsp70s are known to interact with proteins in their misfolded, unfolded and aggregated states. Interestingly, Hsp70s do not interact with proteins in their correctly folded states (Meimaridou et al., 2009; Mayer and Bukau, 2005). A few Hsp70 proteins have organelle specific localization and tissuespecific expression but their functions are mostly overlapping. The majority of Hsp70 proteins are localized in the cytoplasm, but they can be found in the nucleus as well (Daugaard et al., 2007; Rérole et al., 2011; Brodsky et al., 2006). Hsp70 proteins enhance survival in highly stressful states by protecting cells against the toxicity from denatured and misfolded proteins that may have accumulated. Instead of having true "client" proteins like other Hsps, Hsp70 proteins bind to exposed hydrophobic residues on misfolded and unfolded proteins, forcing them to maintain these states to prevent their aggregation. Hsp70 can directly unfold misfolded proteins via its ATPase activity (Daugaard et al., 2007; Rérole et al., 2011; Brodsky et al., 2006).

Hsp70 proteins have two main binding domains called the nucleotide binding domain (NBD) and the substrate binding domain (SBD). ATP binding and hydrolysis at the NBD domain allows Hsp70 to switch between its low substrate affinity state and high substrate affinity state. When ATP is bound to the NBD of Hsp70, the protein is in a low substrate affinity state where the association and dissociation of the polypeptide with the

SBD occur at fast rates. Upon activation of Hsp70 activity, NBD bound ATP is hydrolyzed and Hsp70 assumes a high substrate affinity state with slow polypeptide association and dissociation rates (Schmid et al., 1994; Pierpaoli et al., 1998; Gässler et al., 2001; Takeda and McKay, 1996). Hsp70 usually interacts with its clients at the early stages of protein folding (Rudiger et al., 1997). It interacts with short hydrophobic sequences that are rich with leucine residues because they are highly exposed during the early stages of protein translation and folding (Hartl and Hayer-Hartl, 2009). This early association of Hsp70 with the substrate prevents aggregate formation. If the substrate cannot be folded properly, cochaperones aid Hsp70 to promote the degradation of the misfolded protein (Meacham et al., 2001; Petrucelli et al., 2004; Jana et al., 2005; Dickey et al., 2007; Muller et al., 2008).

Many members of the Hsp70 family of proteins have overlapping function. In fact, yeast have 6 Hsp70 homologs. Due to the redundancy in their function, the deletion of up to 3 of these homologs allows yeast to survive (Werner-Washburne et al., 1987). Despite being able to survive, the deletion of a few homologs makes the yeast sensitive to stress conditions in which their growth is impaired. The deletion of 4 of the 6 homologs is lethal in yeast suggesting that partial Hsp70 functioning is critical for survival in this organism (Werner-Washburne et al., 1987). Humans have 8 unique Hsp70 gene products (Tavaria et al., 1996). Mice who are deficient in Hsp70-1a and Hsp70-1b are viable and fertile but show high sensitivity to sepsis, cardiac ischemia, genomic instability and radiation (Hampton et al., 2003; Hunt et al., 2004; Singleton and Wischmeyer, 2006). Hsc70 is a member of the Hsp70 family that is constitutively expressed and is critical for mammalian cell development and viability (Florin et al., 2006; Daugaard and Jäättelä, 2005). Hsc70's primary functions involve the promotion of nascent polypeptide chain folding and the

translocation of proteins across membranes (Florin et al., 2004). It influences protein folding by delaying or promoting this process. Hsp70 isoforms also have inducible expression in the brain and liver (Scott et al., 2003). Forced anoxia conditions in the western painted turtle led to a threefold increase in Hsp73 levels in the brain and a sevenfold increase in in the liver.

Therefore, even though proteins from the Hsp70 family are highly homologous with overlapping functions, they can have varying modes of action such as being either constitutive and inducible. Regardless of their differences, these members are critical for proteome stability and for growth and development.

1.5 Hsp90

Heat shock protein 90 (Hsp90) is also an ATP-dependent molecular chaperone that is ubiquitously expressed and has been conserved evolutionarily (Figure 3). It is involved in the later stages of protein folding and only interacts with certain clients (Nathan et al., 1997). Interestingly, Hsp90 interacts with substrates that are partly folded, misfolded and even properly folded (Karagöz and Rüdiger, 2015). Bacteria contain a Hsp90 homologue called HtpG (Buchner, 2010; Shiau et al., 2006; Bardwell and Craig, 1987). Surprisingly, this homologue is not essential for growth as bacteria can survive without it. However, its full functions remain to be investigated (Steeves et al., 2011; Genest et al., 2011). In mammals, Hsp90 has numerous isoforms with different localizations. Two of the major cytosolic isoforms are Hsp90 α and Hsp90 β (Picard, 2002). Hsp90 β is a constitutively expressed isoform while Hsp90 α expression is inducible as it is produced in response to a stressor (Sreedhar et al., 2004; Grad et al., 2010). Hsp90 β is critical to mammalian development and its deletion in mice is embryonically lethal (Voss et al., 2000). This is believed to occur because the trophoblast is unable to develop properly (Voss et al., 2000). In contrast, the deletion of Hsp90 α does not affect the development in mice. The only major deficit reported in Hsp90 α knockout mice was the inability to produce sperm (Grad et al., 2010).



Figure 3: ATPase cycle of Hsp90. Hsp90's conformational transformations are associated with ATP binding and hydrolysis. Initially, when there is no ATP bound, Hsp90 maintains an open conformation. ATP binds the N terminals and induces an Hsp90 conformational change to the closed state. ATP hydrolysis into ADP changes this to a semi-closed conformation. Lastly, ADP release generates an open Hsp90 conformation (Adapted from Lackie et al., 2017).

Hsp90 is a homodimer protein with three main domains which include the Nterminal domain, the middle domain and the C-terminal domain (Ali et al., 2006). This structure is almost completely conserved from bacteria to mammals (Dutta and Inouye, 2000). The middle domain is responsible for ATP-hydrolysis that provides the energy for Hsp90 cycle. This domain is also where many clients and co-chaperones bind (Meyer et al., 2004). The N-terminal domain is responsible for nucleotide binding while the Cterminal domain is needed for proper dimerization of the Hsp90 molecular chaperone (Pearl and Prodromou, 2006; Taipale et al., 2010). Identifying Hsp90's client binding domains is challenging because of the difficulty associated with analyzing its unique homodimer structure using current structural biology methods. Previous studies have proposed that there is a client binding site in each of its structural domains but the correct structure representation remains elusive (Harris et al., 2004; Meyer et al., 2003; Prodromou et al., 1997).

Hsp90 has been shown to control the stability of some client proteins (Karagöz and Rüdiger, 2015). Hsp90 has an extended substrate binding interface with several hydrophobic regions that demonstrates specificity for substrates with exposed hydrophobic regions. This binding specificity ensures that substrates bind to Hsp70 early on in the folding pathway and that downstream folding intermediates bind Hsp90. This control of substrate influx from Hsp70 is how Hsp90 controls the stability of select clients. For example, Hsp90 binds and regulates tau stability with the help of several co-chaperones Shelton et al., 2017).

As a pivotal protein for growth and development, Hsp90 partners up with numerous co-chaperones and regulates their activity and influence their conformational

rearrangement and vice versa. These co-chaperones are functionally important because they take advantage of Hsp90 conformational plasticity by binding to it and allowing it to adapt to different client proteins (Street et al., 2011; Retzlaff et al., 2010). Several cochaperones and clients have been shown to regulate Hsp90 by regulating its conformational changes and ATPase activity. One well-characterized Hsp90 co-chaperone is the <u>C</u>arboxyterminus of the <u>H</u>eat shock cognate 70-Interacting <u>P</u>rotein (CHIP). CHIP is a ubiquitin ligase that tags Hsp90 client proteins for degradation through the proteasome (Dickey et al, 2007; Dickey and Ash et al., 2006). An example of a target protein that CHIP interacts with is tau. Tau is a microtubule stabilizing protein that has been shown to form aggregates in the brain of Alzheimer's and Parkinson's patients (Dickey and Yue et al., 2006). Mice that have CHIP knocked out have greater tau accumulation (Dickey and Yue et al., 2006). It is speculated that increasing CHIP expression could reduce tau levels and potentially alleviate symptoms of disorders associated with Tau proteinopathy (Dickey and Yue et al., 2006).

FK506 binding protein 51 kDa (FKBP51) is another Hsp90 co-chaperone that is associated with clients such as glucocorticoid receptors (GR) and Tau. FKBP51 is a cistrans isomerase that interacts with Hsp90 to ensure proper protein folding in response to proteotoxic stress (Smith et al., 2000; Rein, 2016). Hsp90 interacts with FKBP51 to regulate hormone signalling, chaperone stress response and GR signalling through several feedback loops (Riggs et al., 2003; Takeuchi et al., 2015). FKBP51 expression is increased in the aging brain as well as in Alzheimer's patients and its levels have been shown to correlate with the amount of Tau oligomers present in cells (Peattie et al., 1992). FKBP51 binds Hsp90 and increases neurotoxic tau oligomer production by making tau more susceptible to phosphorylation. Protein phosphatase 5 (PP5) performs the opposite function by dephosphorylating pathological tau and restoring its homeostatic form. Like FKBP51, Cyclophillin A (CypA) and Pin1 are also Hsp90 co-chaperones which are propyl isomerases that assist chaperones in refolding misfolded proteins (Fischer et al., 1984; 1989; Lang et al., 1987; Schmid, 1993; Schmid et al., 1993; Wang and Heitman, 2005; Yeh et al., 2006).

In order to appreciate the diverse functional outreach of Hsp90, it is worth mentioning some of it's significant clients. G protein-coupled receptor kinases (GRK2), which are amongst the most common Hsp90 clients, are protein kinases that modulate G-protein coupled receptors by phosphorylation. Hsp90 plays a vital role in the stabilization and maturation of various GRK family members (Luo and Benovic, 2003). Glucocorticoid receptors are another well-established Hsp90 client that are critical for several biological functions (Kirschke et al., 2014). Their primary function, when glucocorticoids are bound, is the regulation of gene transcription.

Lastly, in addition to its intracellular function, Hsp90 has been shown to have extracellular roles as well (Eustace and Jay, 2004). The best studied extracellular role for Hsp90 is in innate and adaptive immunity where it is involved in antigen processing (Basu and Srivastava, 2000). It increases the invasiveness of tumours by interacting with metalloproteinase-2. Hsp90 has also been shown to be secreted from vascular smooth muscle cells in response to oxidative stress (Liao et al., 2000). Since extracellular Hsp90 can be detected on the surface of tumour cells and has been shown to regulate their invasiveness, cancer therapies have the potential to target extracellular Hsp90 and exploit its function and reduce tumour invasiveness and toxicity (Wong and Jay, 2016).

1.6 Stress-inducible Phosphoprotein 1

Stress-inducible phosphoprotein 1 (STIP1/STIP1) also known as HOP (Heat-shock organizing Protein) is an important co-chaperone needed for the transfer of clients between Hsp70 and Hsp90 (Johnson, Schumacher et al., 1998, Lee, Graf et al., 2012, Rohl, Wengler et al., 2015b, Schmid, Lagleder et al., 2012b). STIP1 was first identified in yeast as a protein that is upregulated in response to cellular stress (Nicolet and Craig, 1989). It has three major tetratricorticopeptide repeat domains called TPR1, TRP2A and TPR2B and two domains that are rich in aspartate and proline named DP1 and DP2 as seen in Figure 6 (Schmid et al., 2012b;). TPR1 and TPR2B interact with Hsp70 and TPR2A interacts with Hsp90 (Figure 4) (Scheufler et al., 2000; Rohl et al., 2015b). The protein is predominantly located in the cytoplasm, however, as STIP1 has a nulear localization signal (NLS), it can be found also in the nucleus. Nuclear shuttling is initiated by the phosphorylation of different STIP1 sites by casein kinase II (CKII) and cell division cycle kinase (CDCII) (Longshaw et al., 2004). Interestingly, STIP1 localizes to the nucleus in astrocytes when exposed to gamma-radiation suggesting that it plays a role in astrocyte's stress response (Soares et al., 2013).

In addition to its intracellular function as a molecular co-chaperone, STIP1 also has extracellular cytokine-like activity (Lime et al., 2007; Arantes et al., 2009; Hajj et al., 2013). Majority of the literature on the function of extracellular STIP1 focus on its interaction with the cellular prion protein (PrP^C), a cell surface protein that scaffolds signalling complexes (Linden et al., 2008). Extracellular STIP1 can be secreted by exosomes from astrocytes in order to interact with PrP^C and exert a variety cellular effects such as influencing cellular growth and survival (Hajj et al., 2013; Beraldo et al., 2013). This interaction has protective effects as it reduced anisomycin (a protein systhesis inibitor) induced-apoptosis (Chiarini et al., 2002). Similarly, extracellular STIP1 also protected cultured neurons against protein synthesis inhibitors (Lopes et al., 2005). Recombinant STIP1 added to hippocampal cell cultures elicits neuritogenesis due to its interaction with PrP^{C}) at the neuronal surface in PrP^{C} expressing cells but not in PrP^{C} null cells (Lopes et al., 2005). This interaction activates protein kinase A and ERK1/2 which resuts in neuroprotection as well as increased neuritogenesis (Caetano et al., 2008). Extracellular STIP1 also interacts with PrP^{C} and alpha7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor complex to transduce extracellular signals into the intracellular environement (Beraldo et al., 2010). Lastly, the interaction between STIP1 and PrP^{C} also provides neuronal protection against toxic stimuli such as Aβ oligomers (Ostapchenko et al., 2013).

The deletion of the STIP1 homolog (CeHOP) in *Caenorhabditis elegans* is not lethal but the worms are more susceptible to stress and present deficits in sexual development (Gaiser et al., 2009; Song et al., 2009). Elimination of STIP1 is also nonlethal in yeasts (Nicolet and Craig, 1989). On the other hand, STIP1 deletion is lethal in mice, leading to death by 10.5 days of embryonic development (Beraldo et al., 2013). This suggests that STIP1 is critical at early stages of mammalian development. Deletion of STIP1 down regulates the levels of various Hsp90 clients suggesting that it plays a vital role in maintaining chaperone network homeostasis (Beraldo et al., 2013).

In yeast, STIP1 has been shown to modulate toxicity of protein aggregates, being the TPR1 domain important for this activity (Wolfe et al., 2013). STIP1 has also been suggested to modulate mutant tau and A β toxicity (Ambegaokar et al., 2011; Brehme et al., 2014; Maciejewski et al., 2016). Therefore, STIP1 also plays a role in modifying protein aggregates and mediating their toxicity (Maciejewski et al., 2016).



Figure 4: Schematic of STIP1 structure and its regulation by Hsp90. Intracellularly, STIP1 functions as a molecular co-chaperone. STIP1 has three main tetratricopeptide repeat domains (TPR1, TPR2A and TRP2B). It is able to bind to various chaperones (Hsp70 and Hsp90) and co-chaperones to perform its functions. It binds to Hsp70 using the TPR1 and TPR2B domains while it binds to Hsp90 using the TPR2A domain.

1.7 The Role of Molecular Chaperones in Neurodegenerative Disorders

Hsp90 is able to refold numerous non-native proteins within the cell, preventing the formation of toxic aggregates (Freeman and Morimoto, 1996; Mayer and Bukau, 1999). One pathological non-native protein that Hsp90 in unable to refold is misfolded Tau because of its post-translational modifications (Nakai et al., 1993; Neve et al., 1988). Tau is a microtubule stabilizing protein whose pathological form is present in neurodegenerative disorders such as AD and PD (Nakai et al., 1993; Neve et al., 1988). Tau is predominantly located in neurons of the central nervous system where is promotes tubulin assembly into microtubules (Avila et al., 2002). In a number of diseases, tau becomes hyperphosphorylated and forms aggregates as observed for example in AD (Rabindran et al., 1993). Hsp90 functions to preserve tau in order to optimize microtubule kinetics but is unable terminate this function when tau becomes aberrant (Karagoz et al., 2014). Therefore, Hsp90 continues to preserve and enhances tau even when it is in its pathological state which promotes neurodegeneration (Sarge et al., 1991).

Molecular chaperones also play a major role in the processing and clearance of $A\beta$, a major component of amyloid plaques which are a prominent hallmark of AD. A β peptides are produced from the cleavage of amyloid precursor protein (APP), a transmembrane glycoprotein with unknown functioning (O'Brien and Wong, 2011). Cleavage of this protein can occur through one of two pathways. The first pathway involves the cleavage of APP primarily by alpha secretase followed by gamma secretase processing which yield nonamyloidogenic products. The second pathway, which yield amyloidogenic A β products, involve APP cleavage by beta secretase followed by gamma secretase. The difference in the site of actions of alpha and beta secretases is what yields these variations in cleavage products with varying fates (O'Brien and Wong, 2011). Many of the genetic mutations that are implicated in AD occur in the APP gene and cluster around the gamma secretase cleavage site (Shen and Kelleher, 2007). Interestingly, stress in the form of heat shock increases transcription of the beta-APP gene suggesting that the Hsp molecular chaperone system is involved with A β metabolism (Dewji and Do, 1996). In fact, a heat shock element was found in the promotor region of the APP gene (Dewji and Do, 1996). Furthermore, Hsp90 inhibitors have been shown to be protective against A β -induced toxicity (Ansar et al., 2007). A β induced cognitive impairments were also rescued by inhibiting Hsp90 in mice while having no effect on A β plaque load (Chen et al., 2014; Ho et al., 2013). Thus, more studies need to be conducted in order to parse out the mechanisms by which Hsp90 modulates the toxic effects of tau and A β in different neurodegenerative disorders.

The chaperone machinery also regulates CMA (Cuervo and Dice, 2000). Heat stress is a potent stimulator of the heat shock response and exerts a complex effect on autophagy. Heat stress triggers autophagy in various cell types such as human hepatoma cells (Han et al., 2013). Studies have shown that the deletion of the HSF1 gene increases basal autophagy levels (Dokladny et al., 2013). Additionally, stress conditions that promote the formation of unfolded proteins upregulate the heat response and autophpagy. Treatment of cells with proteosomal inhibitors induces mitochondrial dysregulation and ER stress which triggers an upregulation of Hsp70 and induces autophagy (Selimovic et al., 2012). In addition to clearing misfolded substrates, various other cellular proteins need to constantly recycled in order to modulate intracellular processes. Hsp70 recognizes the substrate and brings it to the lysosome where it undergoes complete degradation in the lysosomal matrix (Chiang et al., 1989). CMA has a great impact on neurodegenerative disorders (Arias and Cuervo, 2011; Koga and Cuervo, 2011, Orenstein and Cuervo, 2010). One of the defining characteristics of these diseases is the failure of the CMA to properly dispose of misfolded proteins.

Parkinson's disease (PD) is a typical example of a neurodegenerative disorder that is affected by the CMA (Cuervo et al., 2004; Orenstein et al., 2013; Mak et al., 2010; Vogiatzi et al., 2008). PD is characterized by the selective loss of dopaminergic neurons and the presence of misfolded α -synuclein and leucine-rich repeat kinase 2 (LRRK2) that form toxic aggregates called Lewy bodies (Cuervo et al., 2004; Orenstein et al., 2013; Mak et al., 2010; Vogiatzi et al., 2008). Sequence analysis revealed that both of these proteins have CMA-targeting motifs which suggest that the CMA play a major in the proper clearance of these proteins (Cuervo et al., 2004; Orenstein et al., 2013). Hsp72 confers cellular protection against apoptosis by inducing autophagy in mesothelial cells following injury in rats (Shu et al., 2011). Another study inhibited HSF-1 protein expression using siRNA and overexpressed Hsp70 using adenovirus and observed that HSF1 silencing enhanced starvation induced autophagy while Hsp70 upregulation blocked this enhancement (Dokladny et al., 2015).

The huntingtin protein (HTT) is a protein that is misfolded and forms pathological aggregates which cause selective neuronal loss in HD (Roos, 2010; Gusella and MacDonald, 1998; Ramaswamy et al., 2007). The HTT protein has several glutamine (polyQ) repeats which influence HTT toxicity (Jana et al., 2000). In fact, the number of

polyQ repeats correlates with the amount of HTT deposition (Jana et al., 2000; Muchowski et al., 2000). Remarkably, Hsp70 can prevent the toxicity that is normally caused by misfolded protein in animal models of HD (Ravagnan et al., 2001; Gurbuxani et al., 2003). Increased levels of Hsp40, Hsp60, Hsp70 and Hsp100 all have been shown to attenuate polyQ induced protein aggregation and slow disease progression. It has been proposed that molecular chaperones promote formation of spherical and annular HTT oligomer, leading to the formation of less toxic fibrillary and amorphous aggregation (Ravagnan et al., 2003).

Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) is another neurodegenerative disorder that is affected by the chaperone machinery. ALS is a progressive neurodegenerative disorder that manifests in adults and is characterized by motor neuron dysfunction (Banks et al, 2008). This is a fatal disorder whose symptomology includes paralysis and respiratory failure followed by death. Many ALS patients also suffer from frontal and temporal lobe neuronal death which is called fronto-temporal lobar degeneration (FTLD) (Banks et al, 2008). TAR DNA-binding protein (TDP-43) is a major component in misfolded aggregates that are toxic and contribute to neurodegeneration in these disorders (Neumann et al., 2006). Hsp40 and Hsp70 protein levels and availability regulates TDP-43 aggregation and are important targets for therapeutic interventions (Udan-Johns et al., 2014). Numerous other proteins are misfolded and found in aggregates in ALS disease and are discussed in greater detail in section 1.1. TDP-43 pathology is of particular interest because it is observed in multiple neurodegenerative disorders, including Alzheimer's, and therefore deciphering the cellular mechanism by which TDP-43 stability is regulated has the potential to provide essential directions for new therapeutic approaches.
1.8 TARDP43 (TDP-43)

TDP-43 is a widely-expressed protein whose primary role includes interaction with DNA and RNA and modulating RNA expression (Figure 4). This protein has two RNA recognizing motifs and a prion-like C-terminal domain that makes it aggregation-prone (Ou et al., 1995). It also contains a nuclear localization sequence and a nuclear export signal (Winton et al., 2008). Therefore, this protein is predominantly localized in the nucleus but it is capable of nucleocytoplasmic shuttling. TDP-43 is also involved with RNA splicing and regulating the stability of a large number of mRNA transcripts (Gregory et al., 2004 Xu, 2012). TDP-43 is important for resilience in conditions of cellular stress where it sequesters mRNAs that are needed for survival into aggregates (King et al., 2012). TDP-43 was identified as a major component of cytoplasmic inclusion found in motor neurons of ALS patients and in cortical regions of FTLD patients (Neumann et al 2006). Neurodegenerative disorders with TDP-43 cytoplasmic depositions are known as "TDP-43 Proteinopathies".



Figure 5: Mechanisms involved in TDP-43 pathology. TDP-43 functions predominantly within the nucleus and modulates gene expression, spliceosome functioning, mRNA transport and stabilization. It also has to ability to localize to the cytoplasm where it can associate with RNA strands and form stress granules, it can interact with other pathological proteins and form cytoplasmic aggregates or it can be degraded through one of the numerous cellular clearance pathways (Adapted from Janssens and Broeckhoven, 2013).

There are numerous upstream genetic and physiological stressors that have been implicated in TDP-43 proteinopathies, but these disorders seem to be irreversible in nature. Even though TDP-43 mutations have been found in ALS and FTLD patients, these forms of the disease are rare (Scotter et al., 2015). The majority of TDP-43 gene mutations that are implicated in stress granule formation are located in its prion-like C-terminal domain (Sreedharan, 2008; Van Deerlin, 2008; Rutherford, 2008). Almost all cases of ALS, as well as tau- negative frontotemporal dementia (FTD), show the deposition of TDP-43-positive protein inclusions suggesting a common pathogenic pathway amongst various neurodegenerative disorders (Scotter et al., 2015). When these aggregates are studied thoroughly, it is observed that both native and mutated TDP-43 accumulates into insoluble cytoplasmic aggregates in ALS (Van Deerlin, 2008; Rutherford, 2008). Mutated TDP-43 is unable to process RNA and it loses the ability to undergo axonal transport even before it forms pathological aggregates (Alami et al., 2014; Lie-Yesucevitz et al., 2014; Arnold et al., 2013). This result is further supported by the observation that mutated TDP-43 is unable to rescue the loss of function in motor neurons with knocked out TDP-43, suggesting a potential role of genetics in TDP-43 Proteinopathies (Alami et al., 2014; Lie-Yesucevitz et al., 2014; Arnold et al., 2013). Intrinsically disordered proteins, such as TDP-43 and FUS, have the tendency to mediate and form membraneless organelles through liquidliquid phase separation (LLPS; Li et al., 2013). These membraneless organelles can have numerous functions such as ribonucleoprotein assembly (Uversky, 2017).

29

The majority of ALS has unknown causes and inheritance only account for a small fraction of all cases (Scotter et al., 2015). Therefore, physiological and environmental factors are thought to play a major role in the development of such disorders (Scotter et al.,

2015). Numerous factors, such as osmotic stress, oxidative stress and endoplasmic reticulum stress have been proposed to initiate the redistribution of TDP-43 from the nucleus to the cytoplasm, where they are included in cytoplasmic stress granules (Dewey et al., 2010; Colombrita et al., 2009; Barmada et al., 2014). This early mislocalization tends to be reversible unless the cells are under prolonged stress conditions which may seed the stress granules into an irreversible form (Wang et al., 2012; Udans-Johns et al., 2014; King et al., 2012). In neurodegenerative disorders, these stress granules are posttranslationally modified and co-localize with TDP-43 aggregates in ALS spinal neurons (Liu Yesucevitz et al., 2010; McDonald et la., 2011). Together, these diverse environmental stressors are believed to promote irreversible TDP-43 changes that are commonly observed in neurodegenerative disorders (figure 5). The exact mechanism by which TDP-43 toxicty occurs is not currently known. Nontheless, TDP-43 is cleaved by caspase-9 before it is ubiquintintated, phosphorylated and mislocalized to the cytoplasm. Therefore caspase dependent apoptosis is one suggested mechanism for this toxicity. (Liu Yesucevitz al., 2010; **McDonald** 2011). et et la.,

30



Figure 6: TDP-43 proteinopathy. In normal cells, TDP-43 is primarily localized within the nucleus. In some diseases TDP-43 forms stress granules in the cytoplasm. This proteinopathy is observed in affected neurons of ALS, FTLD and AD patients (Adapted from Neumann et al., 2006).

Pharmacological upregulation of the heat shock response in *Drosophila* has shown that small heat shock proteins (sHsp) enhance TDP-43 solubility and that Hsp104 can potentiate TDP-43 refolding (Gregory et al., 2012; Torrente et al., 2016). Additionally, coimmunoprecipitation studies in human neuroblastoma cells demonstrated that TDP-43 interacts with Hsp70 and Hsp90 (Zhang et al., 2010). Down-regulation of either Hsp70 or Hsp90 was shown to correlate with an increase in TDP-43 levels and phosphorylation state, indicating a potential role of heat shock proteins in TDP-43 phosphorylation and aggregation (Zhang et al., 2010). In fact, Chang et al. (2013) have shown that the dysregulation of the heat shock molecular chaperone system influence TDP-43 aggregation and degradation. Preliminary yeast studies in Dr. Duenwald's lab (The University of Western Ontario) show that Hsp90 inhibitors exacerbate TDP-43 toxicity. They also showed that the deletion of Stress-Inducible Phosphoprotein 1 (STIP1), a co-chaperone that links Hsp70 and Hsp90, also exacerbates TDP-43 toxicity and aggregation in yeast. These results suggest a novel role for STIP1, a modulator of the molecular chaperone network, in regulating TDP-43 toxicity and stability.

1.9 Rationale, Study Aim, and Hypothesis

Although few treatment options exist, there are no current cures for ALS, FTLD and AD. TDP-43 proteinopathy is a common pathological feature in all of these disorders. Misfolded TDP-43 accumulates in the cytoplasm where it forms toxic aggregates that are implicated in neurodegeneration. The inhibition of key molecular chaperones, such as Hsp90, induces TDP-43 upregulation and aggregation suggesting that it is a special client of Hsp90 (Zhang et al., 2010). The role STIP1 plays in TDP-43 mislocalization and aggregation in neurodegenerative disorders, if any, is unknown. The exact role these proteins play in regulating TDP-43 stability and pathology is also undetermined. **Therefore, we hypothesize that the deletion of STIP1 leads to an increase TDP-43 toxicity and proteinopathy.**

Study Aims:

1) To determine whether TDP-43 interacts with STIP1 and if STIP1 modulates the interaction of TDP-43 with other heat shock proteins.

2) To determine if STIP1 regulates TDP-43 and Hsp90 client levels

3) To evaluate the effect of STIP1 in TDP-43 induced cellular toxicity.

2 Materials and Methods

2.1 Animals

The *STIP1*^{ΔTPR1} mouse line (Lackie et al., preprint) expresses and hypomorphic *STIP1* lacking the TPR1 domain. This provides a model that can be used to study the function of the TPR1 domain and allow a better understanding of *Stip1* in mammals. The effect of increased and decreased *STIP1* was studied using the *STIP1*^{TGA} and *STIP1*^{-/+} mouse lines respectively (Beraldo et al., 2013, Beraldo et al., 2015). *STIP1*^{-/-} mouse embryos (discussed in more detail in section 2.4) were also used, as described by Beraldo et al. (2013). All of the mouse lines were in the C57BL/6J background. The 5xFAD mouse line (Oakley et al., 2006), obtained from the Jackson Laboratory (Bar Harbor, Maine), is an Alzheimer's Disease AD mouse model that rapidly develops cerebral β-amyloid 42 (Oakley et al., 2006). 5xFAD mice were crossed with *STIP1*^{TGA} mice to obtain the *STIP1*^{TGA;5xFAD} (Lackie et al., manuscript in preparation) which is an AD mouse model with a fivefold increase in *STIP1* expression.

2.2 Ethics

All animals used in this research were handled and maintained by the University of Western Ontario Animal Care and Veterinarian Services. All procedures were in accordance with approved animal use protocols at the University of Western Ontario (**2016-103**; **2016-104**) following guidelines outlined by the Canadian Council of Animal Care.

2.3 Mouse Embryonic Fibroblasts

STIP1^{Δ TPR1} Mouse Embryonic Fibroblasts (MEFs) were provided by Rachel Lackie (Western University). STIP1^{Δ TPR1} MEFs were obtained from STIP1^{Δ TPR1} mice as previously described (Beraldo et al., 2013, Lackie et al., preprint, Migliorini et al., 2002). MEFs were initially frozen in liquid nitrogen. When first thawed, they were plated in thawing media (DMEM supplemented with 20% FBS (Fetal Bovine Serum-a serum supplement for cell cultures), 1% L-Glutamine, 1% penicillin & streptomycin) in T75 flasks. After 2 days, fibroblasts were washed with D-PBS and then incubated in DMEM supplemented with 10% FBS, 1% L-Glutamine, 1% penicillin & streptomycin (replaced every 3 days). Once cell confluence reached 80%, fibroblasts were transferred to a new T75 flask at a 40% confluence while the rest were discarded. Growing fibroblasts were always maintained at 37^oC and 5% carbon dioxide. All experiments were conducted at cell passage 6 (P6).

2.4 Mouse Embryo Isolation

STIP1^{-/-} mouse embryos were developed and collected as previously described (Beraldo et al., 2013). Briefly, heterozygous (*STI*^{+/-}) females were super-ovulated and mated with heterozygous males. Super-ovulation was induced by injecting female mice with 5 IU of pregnant mare serum. 48 hours after, females were further injected with 5 IU human chorionic gonadotropin. Immediately after this injection, female mice were mated

with male mice overnight; the males were removed the following day. Embryos were collected and genotyped at successive time intervals.

2.5 Cell Cultures

Human Embryonic Kidney (HEK293 cells were purchased from American Type Culture Collection, Manassus, VA, USA) cells and Mouse Septal Neuronal cells (SN56 cells were generous provided by Bruce Wainer, Emory University) were thawed using thawing media and grown in complete media (described above). Media was replaced every 2 days or as needed. Cells were grown in T75 flasks and transferred to new flasks once a confluence of 80% was reached. All experiments were conducted between P5 and P10. Cells were placed in the following physiological conditions for 24 hours to assess cellular viability and TDP-43 localization: 1 mM Azetidine-2-carboxylic acid (AZC; Sigma-Aldrich, Cat# A0760-100MG), 20 uM MG132 (Sigma-Aldrich, Cat# M7449-200), 10 uM Radicicol (Cayman Chemicals, Cat# 13089), 10 uM Thapsigargin (Sigma-Aldrich, Cat# 67526-95-8). The 0.5 mM sodium arsenite treatment was for 30 mins (Sigma-Aldrich, Cat# S7400-100G).

2.6 CRISPR/Cas9 generation of STIP1 HEK293 KO Cells and STIP1 SN56 KO Cells

STIP1 knockouts of HEK293 and SN56 cells were generated as previously described (Lackie et al., preprint). STIP1 expression was eliminated using CRISPR-Cas 9

36

(Clustered Regularly Interspaced Short Palindromic Repeats) editing system. CRISPR/Cas 9 is an acquired immunity system that was initially discovered in bacteria (Barrangou et al., 2007). In this system, bacterial Cas9 enzymes (endonuclease enzymes that cleave phosphodiester bonds between nucleic acid monomers) process invading foreign DNA by targeting and cleaving the DNA sequences at specific sites (Zhang et al., 2014). The resulting DNA fragments are then integrated into the host genome's highly conserved CRISPR sequence which generates host immunity. This CRISPR sequence becomes the spacers that act as transcriptional templates that produce crRNA which assist Cas9 in detecting future viruses and invading genetic material. Researchers take advantage of this genomic integration system by designing special Cas9 enzymes with synthetic guide RNA sequences that can target specific DNA sequences. Once the Cas9 enzyme binds the DNA sequence of choice, a double stranded DNA break is initiated (Ma et al., 2014). These breaks initiate DNA repair processes. These repairs processes can be manipulated by inserting donor repair template sequences of choice to induce the desired genetic modifications (Zhang et al., 2014).

37

In our study, the Optimized CRISPR Design Software (http://crispr.mit.edu/) was used to design guide RNAs for the mouse STIP1 gene to transfect SN56 cells (STIP1 Top 1: 5'CACCGGTAGTCTCCTTTCTTGGCGT 3' and STIP1 Bottom 1 5'AAACACGCCAAGAAAGGAGACTACC 3') and the human STIP1 gene to transfect HEK293 cells (STIP1 Top 1: 5' CACCGGCATCGATGTTACCCACGCTC 3' and STIP1 Bottom 1 5' AAACGAGCGTGGGTAACATCGATGCC 3'). The guide RNAs were phosphorylated, annealed and cloned at the BbSI enzyme restriction site into the Addgene vector (px330 modified vector). After this construct was sequenced, Lipofectamine 2000 (Invitrogen) was used to transfect both SN56 and HEK293 cells (the corresponding guide was desi. Clones were isolated using serial dilution in 96-well plates. Isolated clones were separated until colonies were established. These colonies were then plated in 6-well plates in duplicates. One duplicate was maintained while the other one was lysed for immunoblot analysis. Several clones with decreased STIP1 levels were obtained but only clones with complete elimination of STIP1 expression were expanded and used to investigate the role of STIP1 in TDP-43 mediated toxicity and pathology.

2.7 SN56 Cellular Differentiation

SN56 cells were differentiated as previously described (Blusztajn et al., 1992. Differentiation was induced by incubating SN56 cells in complete median containing 1mM of dbcAMP (Sigma-Aldrich), a cAMP analog, for 48 hours.

2.8 Western Blotting

Western blotting was conducted as described by (Beraldo et al., 2013, Guzman, De Jaeger et al., 2011). Protein from MEFs, brain tissues, mouse embryos, HEK293 cells and SN56 cells were extracted using RIPA buffer (50mM Tris, 150mM Sodium Chloride, 1% Triton X-100, 0.5% Sodium Deoxycholate, 0.1% SDS, pH 8.0), with added protease inhibitors (Protease Inhibitor Cocktail Set 3-EMD Mllimore, Burlington, MA) and phosphatase inhibitors (Phosphotase Inhibitor Cocktail Set 5-EMD Mllimore, Burlington, MA), on ice for 15 minutes. Protein extracts were centrifuged at 12 000 x g at 4^oC for 20 minutes and supernatant was collected and quantified using the BioRad protein assay

method as described by the manufacturer. 5-30 ug of proteins were loaded onto Bolt 4-12% Bis-Tris gradient pre-cast gels (Invitrogen, Cat#NW00100BOX).

For subcellular fractionation studies, the Nuclear and Cytoplasmic Extraction Kit (ThermoFisher Scientific, Cat# 7833) was used. In short, the RIPA buffer was replaced with the cytoplasmic extraction and nuclear extraction reagents. After cells were collected as described above, the cytoplasmic reagent 1 was added and the lysate was vortexed for 15 seconds and then incubated on ice for 10 minutes. Ice cold cytoplasmic reagent 2 was then added and this mixture was vortexed for 5 seconds, placed on ice for 1 minute and then vortexed again for 5 seconds. It was then centrifuged at max speed (15 g) for 5 minutes and the supernatant, which contains the cytoplasmic protein extracts, was extracted and stored in the -4⁰ freezer (or placed on ice). The nuclear extraction reagent was added to the remaining pellet (which contains nuclear proteins) from the centrifugation described above; which was vortexed for 15 seconds and then placed on ice for 10 minutes, repeatedly 5 times. The supernatant obtained contains the nuclear proteins and was stored for later analysis. The following antibodies were used for immunoblotting: anti-STIP1 (1:5000, inhouse antibody generated by Bethyl Laboratories Montgomery, USA) (Beraldo et al., 2013), anti-Hsp90 (1:1000, Cat# 4877, Rabbit mAb, Cell Signalling), anti-Hsp70(1:1000, Cat# ab2787, Abcam), anti-CHIP (1:1000, Cat# 2080, Rabbit mAb, Cell Signalling), anti-Glucocorticoid Receptor (1:1000, Cat# 3660, Rabbit mAb, Cell Signalling), anti-GRK2 (1:1000 Cat# 3982, Rabbit pAb, Cell Signalling) anti-FKBP51 (1:1000, ab2901, Rabbit pAb, Abcam), anti-CypA (1:2000, Cat# ab126738), anti-Pin1 (1:250, Cat# sc-15340, Rabbit pAb, Santa Cruz), anti-TDP-43 full length (1:1000, Cat# 10782-2-AP, Proteintech), anti-TDP-43 C-terminal (1:1000, Cat# 12892-1-AP, Proteintech), anti-NeuN (1:5000, Cat#

ab104225, abcam), anti-Tubulin (1: 10000, Cat# 2020-TUB, PhosphoSolutions), anti-KI67 (1:1000, Cat# ab15580, abcam).

2.9 Immunofluorescence

Immunofluorescence was performed on both brain sections and cell cultures using the same protocol described by Beraldo et al. (2013) and Lackie et al. (Preprint). Briefly, mouse brains were extracted after transcardial perfusion and fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA) for 48 hours. Fixed half brains were sliced in 20 uM sections using the Leica VT1000s. Brain sections and tissues were stored in PBS + 0.02% sodium azide. Brain sections were permeabilized (PBS-T for 2x8 minute intervals), blocked (PBS with 3% BSA, 2% normal goat serium and 0.2% Triton-X for 60 minutes) and then placed in primary antibody solution (PBS with 0.2% Triton-X, 1% normal goat serum) overnight on the rocker at 4^oC. The following day, sections were washed 3 times then placed in secondary antibody solution. Sections were washed and cover slips were sealed for analysis.

Cell cultures were plated on poly-lysine covered glass coverslips and then fixed in 4% PFA. They permeabilized (PBS with 0.05% Triton-X for 5 minutes), blocked (PBS with 5% BSA 1 hour) and incubated in primary antibody solution (PBS with 0.1% Triton-X, 0.1% BSA) overnight on the rocker at 4°C. They were washed 3 times and then placed in secondary antibody solution (same as primary antibody solution). The coverslips were then washed three times and sealed with DAPI FLuoroshield (GeneTex, Cat# GTX30920) for analysis.

40

2.10 Quantitative RT-PCR

Quantitative RT-PCR was performed on cell cultures as described previously (Beraldo et al., 2013, Beraldo et al, 2015, Lackie et al., Preprint). In brief, cells were plated in 6-well plates. When 80% confluence was reached they were homogenized in TRIzol and RNA was isolated using the AurumTM Total RNA Fatty and Fibrous Tissue Kit (BIORAD, Cat# 732-6830) according to the manufacturer's instructions. RT-PCR was used to generate cDNA according to protocol (Applied Biosystems, Cat# 4368813). qPCR was performed using SYBR Green on a Bio-Rad CFX96 thermocycler.

2.11 Proliferation

Cellular proliferation was measured using KI67, as previously described (Gerdes et al., 1983). KI67 is a nuclear protein that is present in proliferating cells but absent in resting cells and it can be quantified using immunofluorescence. A secondary mouse 488 antibody was used to visualize KI67 positive cells (green). Percent of total cells that are proliferating was calculated by divided the number of KI67 positive cells by the total number of cells present. Quantification was performed using the ImageJ software.

2.12 Transfection with GFP Vectors

Cells and fibroblasts were transfected using the Lipofectamine 3000 reagent (ThermoFisher Scientific, Cat# L3000015). In short, the Lipofectamine 3000 regent was first combined with Opti-MEM and DNA (5 ug per well in 6 well plate) and was then diluted in Opti-MEM and P3000 reagent. These two solutions were combined and diluted

for 15 minutes at room temperature after which they were added to the cell media in which the cells were plated. Transfection efficiency was calculated using the Evos Imaging system. All experiments had a minimum of 80% transfection efficiency. For the vectors that were not tagged with GFP (HA-Empty and HA-STIP1), co-transfection with a GFP-Empty vector was used to calculate transfection efficiency. Cells were incubated at 37°C for 1-4 days prior to analysis. Media was changed after the first 12 hours of transfection. The following DNA vectors were used: GFP-EMPTY and GFP-TDP-43 were obtained from Dr. Michael Strong (The University of Western Ontario), HA-EMPTY and HA-STIP1 were developed by Dr. Marliene Lopes (University of Sao Paulo).

2.13 Co-Immunoprecipitation

Co-immunoprecipitation was performed as described previously (Beraldo et al., 2010). In short, HEK293 cells were transfected with HA-EMPTY, as a control, and HA-STIP1 using Lipofectamine 3000. Two days after transfection, cells were lysed using immunoprecipitation buffer (IP buffer-20 mM Tris, 150 mM NaCl, 1 mM EDTA, 1 mM EGTA, 1% Triton X-100, 0.5% Sodium Deoxycholate, pH 7.5) and incubated in Sepharose beads (abcam, Cat# ab193256) for pre-clearance. Anti-HA agarose beads (ThermoFisher, Cat# 26181) were then added to the cell lysates which rotated in the orbital over night at 4°C. The next day, the lysates were centrifuged, the supernatant was discarded. 4x SDS sample buffer (40% Glycerol, 240 mM Tris/Hcl pH 6.8, 8% SDS, 0.04% bromophenol blue, 5% beta-mercaptoethanol) was added to the beads which were then heated at 95°C for 5 minutes, centrifuged and then immunoblotted with antibodies against the proteins in question. SN56 cells were used to immunoprecipitae endogenous TDP-43. SN56 cell

lysates, which were pre-cleared with Sepharose beads, were incubated in rabbit polyclonal anti-TDP-43 antibody overnight (Proteintech, Cat# 10782-2-AP). In the control condition the SN56 cell lysates were incubated with rabbit polyclonal anti-GFP antibody (Abcam, Cat#ab6556) antibodies after pre-clearance on the orbital shaker overnight at 4^oC. The lysates were then incubated in Protein A agarose beads for 4 hours on the orbital shaker at 4^oC. Lysates were centrifuged boiled and immunoblotted as described above.

2.14 Cellular death and Viability Assays

The Live/DeadTM Viability/Cytotoxicity Kit (ThermoFisher Scientific, Cat# L3224) was used to measure cellular toxicity/viability as previously described (Beralo et al., 2013). Ethidium homodimer-1 (dead cell marker) and calcein AM (live cells marker) were added to Dulbecco's phosphate-bufferred saline (D-PBS) at concentrations of 4 uM and 2 uM, and vortexed. 150 uL of the combined Live/DeadTM assay reagents were added to the surface of coverslips so that the cells were covered in solution. These cells were incubated in the dark for 45 minutes after which they were mounted on coverslips and analyzed under the Invitrogen Evos FL Auto 2 cell imaging system (Thermofisher, Cat# AMAFD2000, Light cubes-DAPI, Texas Red, GFP). Live cells produced intense uniform green fluorescence (494 nm – 517 nm) whereas dead cells produced a bright red fluorescence (528 nm – 617 nm). Percent of dead cells were counted by dividing the number of dead cells by the total number of cells. Staurosporin (Invitrogen, Burlingotn, ON) was used as a positive control to induce cellular death.

The CellTiter-Glo® Luminescent Cell Viability Assay Kit (Promega, Cat# G7050) was also used to measure cellular viability. Cells were first plated onto a 96-well plates

43

with 100 μ L of complete media for 24hs. After treatment, 100 μ L of the CellTiter-Glo® reagent was added to each well (equal to the amount of media already in the well). Empty wells (no cells or media) were used as a control. This 96-well plate was shaken and placed on a rocker for 2 minutes in darkness to induce cell lysis. The plate was then incubated in darkness at room temperature for 10 minutes to allow for the luminescent signal to stabilize. Luminesence was recorded using a multi-well plater reader. Cellular viability was calculated by normalizing luminescence values to those of WT cells and calculated as percentages.

2.15 Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis for all Western blots, toxicity assays, viability assays were performed on GraphPad Prism 5 software (Version 5.0 for Windows, La Jolla California USA). All results were expressed as mean +/- standard error (SEM) and analyzed using unpaired t-tests, one-way ANOVA or two-way ANOVA (when comparing control and experimental conditions in the various immunoblots, immunofluorescence, and toxicity assays). The Tukey's post-hoc test was performed using GraphPad Prism. Significance levels are indicated using asterisks, where **** is p<0.001, *** is p<0.001, ** is p<0.01, * is p<0.05.

3 Results

3.1 STIP1 interaction with TDP-43

Zhang et al. (2010) observed that TDP-43 interacts with both Hsp70 and Hsp90. They also showed that silencing Hsp70 and Hsp90 affects TDP-43 protein levels and phosphorylation. In order to determine whether or not STIP1 is involved in modulating TDP-43 toxicity and proteinopathy, we first tested if STIP1 interacts with TDP-43. We performed a co-immunoprecipitation (CO-IP) experiment in HEK293 cells by transfecting them with HA-Empty (control) or HA-STIP1. Figure 7 shows a representative blot of the CO-IP. This experiment demonstrated that the anti-HA antibody specifically precipitated HA-STIP1 (63 kDa band) and co-immunoprecipitated endogenous TDP-43. This experiment was repeated three times.



Figure 7: TDP-43 co-immunoprecipitates with STIP1 in HEK293 Cells. HEK293 cells were transfected with HA-STIP1, HA-empty vector or non-transfected (un) and then Anti-HA agarose beads were used to precipitate HA-STIP1. Co-IP proteins were resolved by SDS-PAGE, transferred to a membrane and blotted with an antibody against TDP-43 or HA. HC and LC are heavy and light chain of antibodies respectively. Note that endogenous TDP-43 co-IPs with STIP1. Representative blot out of 3 experiments.

3.2 TDP-43 interacts with Hsp70 and Hsp90 in the absence of STIP1

Although we have shown that STIP1 interacts with endogenous TDP-43 (Figure 7) it is unclear what role STIP1 plays in TDP-43 folding and homeostasis. STIP1 has been shown to serve as a scaffold to bridge Hsp90 to other proteins, including PIWI, a protein involved in the metabolism of non-coding RNA (Gangaraju et al., 2011). Therefore, we tested whether STIP1 has a critical scaffolding function to bridge Hsp90 and TDP-43. We used neuronal SN56 cells to determine whether KO of STIP1 affects the interaction between TDP-43 and heat shock proteins. Figure 8 is a representative blot of the SN56 clones that were generated using CRISPR-CAS9 with varying levels of STIP1. Clone 8 has no STIP1 protein expression. Next, CO-IP analysis were performed in both WT SN56 cells and STIP1-KO SN56 cells (clone 8). Figure 9 is a representative blot for these CO-IPs. Anti-TDP-43 precipitated endogenous TDP-43 which co-immunoprecipitated with Hsp70 and Hsp90 in both WT and STIP-KO SN56 cells. Therefore, TDP-43 continues to interact with Hsp70 and Hsp90 in the absence of STIP1 in SN56 cells. When quantified, the amount of Hsp90 immunoprecipitated is not significantly different between WT and STIP-KO cells. This CO-IPs was repeated three times.



Figure 8: Generation of STIP1-KO SN56 cells using CRISPR/CAS9. The CRISPR CAS9 genomic editing system was used to eliminate STIP1 protein expression in SN56 cells. After transfection and seeding, we were able isolate 11 clones, expressing varying levels of STIP1, using serial dilution. Proteins from these 11 clones were resolved using SDS-PAGE, transferred to a membrane and blotted with an antibody against STIP1 and actin (loading control). Note that clone #8 is a complete STIP1 knockout. This is the clone that was expanded and used for the remainder of the experiments.



Figure 9: Co-immunoprecipitation of Hsp90, Hsp70 and STIP1 with endogenous TDP-43 in SN56 Cells. Input represents total cell extracts used for immunoprecipitation. IP TDP-43 lanes represent endogenous TDP-43 immunoprecipitated extracts. Control (IP GFP) lanes represent extracts that were immunoprecipitated with antibody anti-GFP. For each of the three conditions both STIP1-WT (WT) and STIP1-KO SN56 cells (KO) were used. Protein A agarose beads were used to precipitate out endogenous TDP-43. Co-IP proteins were resolved by SDS-PAGE, transferred to a membrane and blotted with antibodies against TDP-43, STIP1, Hsp70, Hsp90, GFP and actin (loading control). HC and LC are heavy and light chain of antibodies respectively. Note that endogenous TDP-43 specifically co-IPs with Hsp70 and Hsp90 both in the presence and absence of STIP1. It also co-IPs with STIP1 when it is present. Representative blot out of 3 experiments

3.3 Hsp90 client protein levels and TDP-43 in cells lacking STIP1.

Beraldo et al. (2013) showed that STIP1 is critical for mammalian development and mice lacking STIP1 are unable to survive embryonic development (E10.5). We also observed that in a mouse models with reduced STIP1, numerous Hsp90 client protein levels are decreased by 50% (Lackie et al., preprint). We used non-neuronal HEK293 cells and neuronal SN56 cells to test whether KO of STIP1 in these cells affects client protein stability. HEK293 STIP1-KO cells were generated by Dr. Marilene Lopes using a similar approach as for SN56 cells (Figure 10A). We compared the levels of Hsp90 clients, cochaperones and TDP-43 in these cells. FKBP51, Cyclophillin A (CypA), Pin1 and CypA are Hsp90 co-chaperones which function as propyl isomerases that assist chaperones in refolding misfolded proteins. Glucocorticoid Receptors are classical Hsp90 clients that play a role in modulating development and metabolism via gene regulation. We first studied client protein stability in HEK293 cells (Figure 10). Figure 10A shows a representative blot and panels B-E present the quantification of Western blots. In HEK293 cells the expression of the Hsp90 co-chaperones and clients was unchanged when STIP1 was eliminated.

Next, we studied client protein stability in neuronal SN56 cells (Figure 11). Figure 11A shows a representative blot and panels B-F present the quantification of Western blots from this cell line. Hsp90 clients and co-chaperones were reduced by approximately 50% when STIP1 was eliminated in SN56 cells. Figure 11G shows a representative blot of Hsp90 client and co-chaperone protein levels when STIP1 was reintroduced in STIP1-KO

SN56 cells. Panels H-I present quantification of this rescue experiments. In SN56 cells, reintroducing STIP1 re-established baseline Hsp90 client and co-chaperone levels.



Figure 10: HSP90 client proteins and co-chaperones levels are unchanged in STIP-KO HEK293 Cells. A) CRISPR CAS 9 was used to eliminate STIP1 expression in HEK293 cells. Independent cell cultures were grown and their proteins were resolved by SDS-PAGE and blotted with antibodies against FKBP51, Pin1, TDP-43, Glucocorticoid Receptors, CHIP, CypA and Actin (loading control). Left 4 columns are WT HEK293 cells while the right 4 columns are STIP1-KO HEK293 cells. **B-F**) Quantification of protein levels (FKBP, Pin1, GR, CypA and TDP-43) between WT and STIP1-KO HEK293 cells. T-test analysis suggest that there is no difference in any of the Hsp90 co-chaperones and clients when STIP1 is deleted. Data are Mean \pm S.E.M. (p>0.05). Results from 8 independent cultures (n=8). The experiment was repeated twice, each time with 4 independent cultures.



53

Figure 11: HSP90 client proteins and co-chaperones levels are decreased in STIP-KO SN56 Cells but these levels are rescued when STIP is introduced. A) WT and STIP1-KO SN56 cells were grown (n=4) and their proteins were resolved by SDS-PAGE and blotted with antibodies against GRK2, STIP1, FKBP51, CypA, GR, CHIP, and Actin (loading control). **B-F**) Quantification of protein levels (GRK2, FKBP51, CypA, G Recep and CHIP, between WT and STIP-KO SN56 cells. GRK2 and CypA were reduced by approximately 60% in the STIP1-KO cells while GR and CHIP were reduced by 60%.

53

Similarly, FKBP51 had a tendency to be reduce as well (p=0.08). Data are Mean \pm S.E.M. *p<0.05, **p<0.01, *** p<0.0001. **G**) WT SN56 and STIP1-KO cells were transfected with HA-Empty vectors and STIP1-KO SN56 cells were also transfected by HA-STIP1 (n=4). **H-I**) Quantification of GR and Pin1 protein levels in all 3 transfection conditions. Both GR and Pin1 protein levels increased to those in WT SN56 cells (one-way ANOVA). Data are Mean \pm S.E.M. *p<0.05, **p<0.01, *** p<0.0001. Results from 12 independent cultures (n=12). The experiment was repeated thrice, each time with 4 independent cultures.

3.4 STIP1 deletion promotes a reduction in TDP-43 protein levels in both undifferentiated and differentiated SN56 cells

We observed that classical Hsp90 clients are reduced by 50% or more when STIP1 is deleted in SN56 cells. If TDP-43 is indeed an Hsp90 client, then we expect to see similar patterns of decreased protein expression and a rescue when STIP1 is introduced into these cells. First we compared TDP-43 levels between WT SN56 cells and STIP-KO SN56 cells. Figure 12A shows a representative blot and its quantification. TDP-43 levels are reduced by approximately 70% in STIP1-KO cells. Next we expressed STIP1 in STIP1-KO SN56 cells. Figure 11B is a representative blot of this rescue experiment along with its quantification. Re-expression of STIP1 restored baseline TDP-43 levels.

SN56 cellular differentiation (by cAMP treatment) induces arborisation and acetylcholine synthesis and release (Blusztajn et al., 1992). To test whether differentiation of SN56 cells affects TDP-43, we induced cellular differentiation in both WT and STIP1-KO SN56 cells. Figure 12C is a representative blot and quantification of this differentiation experiment. We observed that TDP-43 levels were indistinguishable between undifferentiated and differentiated WT SN56 and between undifferentiated and differentiated STIP1-KO cells.

In order to see whether the reduction in TDP-43 that is observed in STIP1-KO SN56 cells is occurring in the nuclear or cytoplasmic compartment we performed a fractional protein extraction. Figure 12D is the representative blot and quantification of this experiment. We observed that there was a decrease in nuclear TDP-43 in the STIP1-KO SN56 cells and that there was no significant TDP-43 detected in the cytoplasm of both cell

types. Lastly, we used q-PCR to determine whether this change in TDP-43 protein levels was due to changes in TDP-43 mRNA expression (Figure 12E). There was no difference in TDP-43 mRNA expression levels between STIP1-WT SN56 and in STIP1- KO SN56 cells.

А



В

TDP-43 in STI1 KO SN56 Cells





С









TDP-43 Expression in SN56 Cells



Figure 12: TDP-43 protein and mRNA expression in SN56 cells. A) Left 4 columns in this blot represent WT SN56 cells and the right 4 represent STIP1-KO SN56 cells. T-test statistical analysis suggest that there is a reduction in TDP-43 STIP1-KO SN56 which is statistically significant. This is a representative blot out of 3 experiments, each of which consisted of 4 independent cultures (n=4) B) KO SN56 were transfected with STIP1 showing a rescue in TDP-43 levels which is also statistically significant (one-way ANOVA) n=4 C) SN56 cells were differentiation by incubation in cAMP for 48 in complete cell media. Both WT and KO SN56 cells were differentiated and TDP-43 protein levels were compared. No difference was observed (in TDP-43 protein levels) between undifferentiated and differentiated SN56 cells (one-way ANOVA) 3 independent cultures grown for each of the conditions (n=3). **D**) Fractional protein extraction was performed in WT and KO SN56 cells. Tubulin was that nuclear loading control while NeuN was the cytoplasmic loading control. STIP1 was localized in the cytoplasm while TDP-43 was predominantly localized in the nucleus, as was expected. There was a decrease in nuclear TDP-43 and there was no significant cytoplasmic TDP-43 (one-way ANOVA) E) Q-PCR was performed and TDP-43 mRNA level was compared between WT and KO cells. Actin was used as a reference gene (T-test, p=0.11). Actin was also the loading control for the western blots (except for the fractional WB) n=4, p=0.11. Data are Mean \pm S.E.M. *p<0.05, **p<0.01, *** p<0.0001. Results from 12 independent cultures (n=12). The experiment was repeated thrice, each time with 4 independent cultures.

3.5 Increasing TDP-43 levels in SN56 cells does not alter STIP1 levels

Since TDP-43 interacts with STIP1 and the elimination of STIP1 levels triggers a decrease in TDP-43 protein levels, TDP-43 is most likely an Hsp90 and STIP1 client. Changes in STIP1 has a strong influence on TDP-43 proteins levels. TDP-43 is a modulator of RNA expression and alternative splicing) and can regulate multiple RNA targets. We then tested if increasing TDP-43 expression affects STIP1 levels. In order to do this, we transfected SN56 cells with GFP-WT-TDP-43 vectors and GFP-Empty (control) vectors. Figure 13A is a representative blot of this experiment and Figure 13B is its quantification. Increasing TDP-43 protein levels in SN56 does not alter STIP1 levels.



Figure 13: STIP1 protein expression in cells with exogenous TDP-43. A) Left four columns represent WT SN56 cells that were not transfected, middle four represent wells that were transfected with GFP-Empty vectors while right four were WT SN56 cells transfected with GFP-WT TDP-43. Tubulin was used as a loading control. Note that the molecular weight for GFP-WT-TDP-43 is 70 kDa. B) Statistical analysis (one-way ANOVA) suggest that there is no statistical difference in STIP1 levels between the three conditions (p=0.1). Results from four independent cultures (n=4). The experiment was performed once.

3.6 STIP1 elimination does not alter proliferation levels in SN56 cells

It has been previously shown that STIP1 is critical for cellular proliferation in mammalian cells during development (Beraldo et al., 2013). STIP1 deletion induces a decrease in cellular proliferation in mouse embryonic fibroblasts (MEFs). In order to evaluate whether STIP1 plays a role in cellular proliferation in neuronal SN56 cells, we used an anti-KI-67 antibody (a protein only detected during cellular proliferation). Figure 15A is a representative image of this immunofluorescence experiment. Figure 15B is the quantification of SN56 with KI-67 positivity. We observed that there was no significant statistical difference in KI-67 immunoreactivity in WT and STIP1-KO SN56 cells, suggesting there are no alterations in proliferation in neuronal SN56 cells.


Figure 14: Proliferation rates in WT and KO SN56 cells. A) DAPI (blue) was used as a nuclear marker while KI-67 (green) was used as a proliferation marker. Transmitted light images allow for a visualization of what the cells look like. **B**) Statistical analysis (T-test) claim that there is no significant difference in cellular proliferation rates between WT and STIP1-KO SN56 cells (p=0.084). This experiment was performed once n=4 (4 independent cultures were grown for each cell type and 5 images were taken of each independent culture at random).

3.7 Cellular Toxicity and Viability in SN56 cells

The deletion STIP1 in mice embryos has shown to cause embryonic lethality where these embryos do not survive past E10.5 (Beraldo et al., 2013). This suggests that STIP1 is critical for mammalian cell survival during development. In order to test whether STIP1 KO would affect viability in neuronal SN56 cells, we measured cytotoxicity using a Live/Dead assay kit. We tested also if increased expression of TDP-43, which is generally toxic in cells (Wils et al., 2010), and it is observed in sporadic ALS cases, is affected by STIP1. Figure 16A is the quantification of the proportion of dead cells in SN56 WT and STIP1-KO cells in the presence of empty vectors, overexpressed WT TDP-43 and ALSlinked mutated A315T TDP-43. Sequencing of the TDP-43 in motor neuron disease (MND) patients revealed that the missense Ala-315-The (A315T) mutation was present in al MND patients but absent in all health control patients (Gitcho et al., 2008). This suggested a direct link between TDP-43 function and neurodegeneration. Mice that express this mutant form of TDP-43 also develop the fatal disease phenotypic characteristic of ALS and FTLD patients (Wegorzewska et al., 2009). This included the accumulation of toxic ubiquitinated protein in the frontal cortex and spinal motor neurons which is followed by neuronal death.

The deletion of STIP1 in SN56 cells resulted in the death of 40% of the total number of cells, which is four-fold greater than the percent of cells that are dead in their WT counterparts (10%). Overexpressing WT TDP-43 in both WT and STIP-KO cells also led to a significant increase in the percentage of cell that are dead in both cell lines (40% and 70% of cells were dead in WT and STIP1-KO cells respectively). Expressing mutant A315T TDP-43 caused cellular death to peak at 70% in both WT and STIP1-KO SN56 cells. Staurosporine was used as a positive control for cellular death.

Next we measured cellular viability in the same conditions using ATP quantification (CellTiter-Glo® Luminescent Cell Viability Assay Kit). Figure 16B shows the quantification for the cellular viability relative to control cells (WT SN56 cells). The deletion of STIP1 led to a 50% decrease in cellular viability when compared to their WT counterpart. Overexpressing WT-TDP-43 in both WT and STIP1-KO cells led to a further 50% reduction in cellular viability in both cell lines (overexpressing WT TDP-43 in WT SN56 and STIP1-KO cells led to only 50% and 25% cellular viability, respectively, when compared to control). In attempt to rescue cellular viability in these cells, we overexpressed STIP1. Figure 16C is the quantification of these viability rescue experiments. Interestingly, overexpressing STIP1 and WT TDP-43 results in greater cellular viability than by only overexpressing WT TDP-43. This increase was significantly different only in WT SN56 cells, but not in STIP1-KO cells.

Lastly, we tested how various cellular stresses that are known to induce protein misfolding and aggregation into stress granules formation affect cellular viability in STIP1-KO cells when compared to WT cells (Figure 15D). The following stressors were used; Azetidine-2-carboxylic acid (AZC), MG132, radicicol and Thapsigargin. AZC is aproline homolog that incorporates into the TDP-43 polypeptide sequence, in place of proline, and promotes irreversible TDP-43 misfolding and toxicity (Dasuri et al., 2011). MG132 is a reversible inhibitor of the UPP (Homma et al., 2015). MG132 treatment in cell cultures prevents the proper degradation of misfolded proteins and leads to TDP-43 aggregation (Homma et al., 2015). Radicicol is an Hsp90 inhibitor that disturbs the proteostasis network

which in turn alters the stability of various Hsp90 protein leading to the accumulation of misfolded proteins (Choi et al., 2015). Lastly, Thapsigargin is an endoplasmic reticulum stressor that leads to increased ubiquitination and misfolded protein aggregation (Llieva et al., 2007). ER stress, accompanied by increased in ER chaperone is present in the spinal cord of ALS patients (Llieva et al., 2007).

Almost all stressor significantly reduced cellular viability in WT SN56 cells, with the exception of MG132. As observed above, deletion of STIP1 reduces cellular viability by 50% before any stressors are applied. Only Thapsigargin treatment reduced cellular viability in STIP1-KO cells significant more than only STIP1 deletion.



Figure 15: Cellular toxicity and viability in SN56 cells. A) SN56 WT and KO cells were transfected with GFP-Empty, GFP-WT-TDP-43 and GFP-A315T-TDP-43 mutated TDP-43. Live/Dead assay was performed to measure cellular toxicity while Staurosporine was used as a positive control. STIP1-KO cells are 50% more cytotoxic than WT cells and transfection with GFP-WT-TDP-43 adds to this cytotoxicity (two-way-ANOVA). B) Cellular viability was measured in SN56 cells using ATP quantification after they were transfected with HA-Empty, HA-STIP1, GFP-Empty and GFP-WT-TDP-43 vectors. STIP1-KO cells were less viable than their WT counter parts and GFP-TDP-43 transfection reduced viability by another 50% (two-way ANOVA). C) Overexpressing STIP1 alone had no effect on cellular viability in either cell line. Overexpressing WT TDP-43 reduced cellular viability by 50% in both cell lines. Over expressing both STIP1 and WT TDP-43 rescued cellular viability significantly in only WT SN56 cells (two-way ANOVA) **D**) In WT SN56 cells, treatment with AZC, Radicicol and Thapsigargin significantly reduced cellular viability. In STIP1-KO cells, only Thapsigargin further reduced cellular viability (in addition to the reduction caused by STIP1 deletion). Only Thapsigargin treatment was able to further reduce cellular viability in STIP1-KO cells. (one-way ANOVA). Data are Mean \pm S.E.M. *p<0.05, **p<0.01, *** p<0.0001. This experiment was performed once, n=4 (4 independent cultures grown for each cell lines in each treatment condition).

3.8 STIP1 KO SN56 Cells are more susceptible to TDP-43 proteinopathy caused by oxidative stress

Since STIP1-KO cells had a 50% reduction in CHIP levels, which is an Hsp90 cochaperone critical in the UPP mediated degradation of misfolded proteins, we predicted these cells to be less efficient in clearing misfolded proteins aggregates. The following cellular stress conditions were applied to these cells; sodium arsenite (oxidative stress), MG132 and Thapsigargin. Figure 16A shows neither untreated WT or untreated STIP1-KO SN56 cells displayed cytoplasmic TDP-43 aggregates. Only sodium arsenite treatment was stressful enough to elicit TDP-43 proteinopathy in SN56 cells (both WT and STIP1-KO. Figure 16B displays the quantification of the percentage of cells that are positive for TDP-43 proteinopathy. STIP1 deletion made cells more susceptible to oxidative stress – mediated TDP-43 proteinopathy resulting in a greater percentage of stress granule positive cells than compared to WT SN56 cells. This experiment was performed once, n=4 (4 independent cultures grown for each cell lines in each treatment condition).



Sodium Arsenite Treated SN56 Cells



Figure 16: TDP-43 localization in WT and KO SN56 cells under various conditions. Cells were placed under 4 conditions; control, sodium arsenite (0.5 mM for 30 mins), MG-132 (20 uM for 24 hours) and Thapsigargin (10 uM for 24 hours). DAPI (blue) was used as a nuclear marker. TDP-43 (green) was predominantly nuclear except for the sodium

В

arsenite treated condition which induced sever TDP-43 mislocalization and aggregation.

B) There was no cytoplasmic TDP-43 in WT or STIP-KO SN56 cells. Sodium arsenite treated caused twice as many STIP1-KO cells to have TDP-43 positive stress granules formed when compared to WT treated cells. This experiment was performed once, n=4 (4 independent cultures grown for each cell lines in each treatment condition).

3.9 Hsp90 Client and TDP-43 protein levels are reduced in STIP1⁻ /- mouse Embryos

If TDP-43 is truly a Hsp90 and STIP1 client, its levels should be affected also in STIP1-null mice, which also show reduced levels of client proteins (Beraldo et al., 2013). Therefore, we tested TDP-43 levels in these embryos to determine whether the relationship that we observed in SN56 cells was upheld in a more biologically complex model (mouse embryo). Figure 17A-B are representative blots. Figure 17C compares TDP-43 mRNA expression between these embryos (qPCR). TDP-43, GRK2, GR and CHIP levels are decreased in STIP1-KO embryos. TDP-43 mRNA expression is unchanged in STIP1^{+/-} KO mouse embryos but decreased by 50% in STIP1^{-/-} KO mouse embryos, suggesting that during development TDP-43 message can be also regulated (only 2 embryos were used and this experiment was performed once).



Figure 17: Hsp client and co-chaperone protein expression in mice embryos. **A**) 2 western blots were performed with 2 and 3 embryos ran on each gel respectively. Protein extracts were collected previously and frozen at -80°C. In the first gel, GRK2 (Hsp90 client) and TDP-43 were both decreased significantly in the STIP1-KO embryos. n=2 (2 independent embryos of each genotype) **B**) GR (Hsp90 client) and CHIP (Hsp90 co-chaperone) were also significantly reduced in the STIP1-KO embryos. n=3. **C**) TDP-43

mRNA expression is reduced in STIP1^{-/-} KO mouse embryos but unchanged in STIP1^{+/-} KO mouse embryos.

We observed that the elimination of STIP1 in SN56 cells and in mice embryos correlates with a reduction in TDP-43 protein levels (Figure 12 and 14 respectively). However, previous experiments suggested that knockdown of Hsp90 and Hsp70 induced increased TDP-43 expression and processing (Zhang et al., 2010). It is conceivable that the chaperone system may affect differently certain client proteins depending on the levels of STIP1 and functional chaperone activity. Therefore, we investigated TDP-43 levels in tissue from mice that are heterozygous for STIP1 (STIP1^{+/-}) and expressing a STIP1 hypomorphic allele.

Surprisingly, tissue from STIP1^{+/-} mice had a four-fold increase in TDP-43 expression (Figure 18A). The STIP1 Δ TPR1, previously characterized by our lab, had a mutated 53 kDa STIP1 (lacking the Δ TPR1 domain) and a reduction in STIP1 levels (Figure 17B; Lackie et al., preprint). The Δ TPR1^{+/-} had a 50% reduction in STIP1 levels while the Δ TPR1^{-/-} had an 80% reduction in STIP1 levels (Lackie et al., preprint). Figure 17C is a representative blot and quantification comparing TDP-43 levels in WT and Δ TPR1^{-/-} mouse models. Immunoblotting revealed a 1.5-fold increase in TDP-43 protein levels in these Δ TPR1^{-/-} mice when compared to their wildtype counterparts. Mouse Embryonic fibroblasts (MEFs), collected from these Δ TPR1STIP1 also showed a similar increase (two-fold) in TDP-43 levels (Figure 17D).

TDP-43 Expression in

Mice Cortex



M.W. (kDa)

KO

WT

76

Figure 18: Levels of STIP1, and TDP-43 in mice cortices that reduced STIP1 A) Mice that were heterozygous for STIP1 knockout had a 4-fold increase in TDP-43 protein levels (T-test). B) Mice that were heterozygous for Δ TPR1 KO had a 50% reduction in STIP1 levels while those that were homozygous KO for Δ TPR1 had a 80% reduction in STIP1 levels (one-way ANOVA). C) Mice that were homozygous Δ TPR1-KO had a 1.5-fold increase in TDP-43 levels (t-test). D) MEFs from the homozygous Δ TPR1-KO had a 2fold increase in TDP-43 protein levels. Data are Mean ± S.E.M. *p<0.05, **p<0.01, *** p<0.0001. 4 independent fibroblast cultures were grown for each genotype (n=4).

3.11 TDP-43 Levels are unaltered in the 5xFAD mouse of Alzheimer's Disease, mice with increased STIP1 levels and in 5xFAD mice with increased STIP1 Levels

Post-mortem analysis of brain tissue from AD patients shows an increase in TDP-43 protein levels and the formation of cytoplasmic TDP-43 positive stress granules in various brain regions (Nelson et al., 2007; Wilhite et al., 2017). We wanted to see whether this pattern of increased TDP-43 protein expression was also observed in the 5xFAD mouse model of AD (model with early and severe amyloid pathology) and what effect would be overexpressing STIP1 have on TDP-43 protein levels in this model. Our lab has previously characterized the STIP1TgA mice model (Figure 18A) which has a three-fold increase in STIP1 levels when compared to WT mice (Beraldo et al., 2013). The 5xFAD mice were crossed with STIP1TgA mice to obtain TgAFAD mice (AD mice model with three-fold increase in STIP1.

The 5xFAD mice model did not display the same increase in TDP-43 protein levels that was observed in AD patients (Figure 18B). TDP-43 protein levels in the STIP1TgA and the TgAFAD mice also did not differ significantly from their WT counterparts.





Figure 19: STIP1 and TDP-43 protein expression in the brains of various mouse models. A) STIP1 quantification in the STIP1TgA mice showed a 4-fold increase in STIP1 (T-test). **B)** Mice with increased STIP1 (STIP1TgA), AD mouse models (5XFAD) andAD mouse models with increased STIP1 (TgAFAD) had no changes in TDP-43 protein levels when compared to their wildtype counterparts. Representative blot out of 2 experiments, 4 mice from each genotype were used (n=4).

3.12 TDP-43 Localization in Nuclear in the frontal lobe of TPR1 Mice

Lastly, we tested TDP-43 localization in STIP1ΔTPR1 mice, a model with decreased STIP1 protein levels and increased TDP-43 levels. Figure 20A are representative immunofluorescence images from layer 1 of the frontal cortex of these mice models. Figure 20B is the quantification of TDP-43 localization in these brain section. Figure 20C is the quantification of TDP-43 immunoreactivity (relative to NeuN), in these brain sections. There was no difference in TDP-43 localization (all TDP-43 was nuclear) and immunoreactivity between WT mice and STIP1ΔTPR1 mice.



Figure 20: TDP-43 localization and intensity in WT and STIP1 (blue) was used as a nuclear marker, TDP-43 (green) was the protein of interest and NeuN (red) was a neuronal nuclear marker. We collected 4 sections from 4 mice of each genotype (n=4). We took 5 random images from each section and quantified using ImageJ. B) Number of nuclei with nuclear and cytoplasmic TDP-43.

4 Discussion

Neurodegenerative disorders are of enormous economic and social burden globally. Current treatment options focus on treating symptoms since no cure exists. TDP-43 misfolding, hyperphosphorylation and aggregation is a pathological hallmark present in disorders such as ALS and FTLD and is believed to play a significant role in neurodegeneration (Neumann et al., 2006). Heat shock proteins have been shown to interact with proteins such as Tau and A β and have been identified as potential targets for treatment of neurodegenerative diseases (Karagoz et al., 2014; Wilhelmus et al., 2007). Recent studies showed that Hsp70 and Hsp90 also interact with TDP-43 and modulate its phosphorylation and protein levels (Zhang et al., 2010), however, the molecular mechanisms and the role of these interactions are unknown. Preliminary yeast studies have suggested that STIP1, a molecular co-chaperone for Hsp 70 and Hsp90, plays an important role in TDP-43 toxicity and proteinopathy. Here we demonstrated that STIP1 does indeed interact with TDP-43 and modulate its protein levels both in neuronal cell cultures and in mouse models. STIP1 is also critical for neuronal survival and viability and it seems to mitigate toxicity of overexpressed TDP-43 (Figure 7).

83

4.1 STIP1 is critical for mammalian cell survival

Although STIP1 is not needed for the survival of *C. Elegans*, its deletion leads to a compromised heat stress response, deficits in sexual development and a reduced life span (Gaiser et al., 2009; Song et al., 2009). Similarly, the elimination of STIP1 is not lethal in yeast but it does lead to impairments in cellular growth in stressful conditions (Flom et al., 2007; Nicolet & Craig, 1989). Interestingly, the deletion of STIP1 is lethal in mice as they are unable to survive past E10.5 (Beraldo et al., 2013). Embryonic lethality was rescued by transgenic expression of the STIP1 gene. MEFs with eliminated STIP1 were also unable to survive in culture. Furthermore, astrocytes with STIP1 haplo-insufficiency were less likely to survive after irradiation (Soares et al., 2013). Here we showed that STIP1 is critical for mouse neuronal survival and its deletion leads to a four-fold increase in the percentage of cells that are dead. Therefore, although STIP1 is not critical for *C. elegans* and yeast survival, it appears to be essential for development and cellular resilience in higher organisms.

Additionally, Beraldo et al. (2013) were able to rescue embryonic lethality in *STIP1*^{-/-} mice using transgenic STIP1 expression. Similarly, when we expressed STIP1 in STIP1-KO SN56 cells, there was a tendency for cellular viability to increase. This experiment was performed once and the increase was statistically insignificant. One possible explanation is that the deletion of STIP1 in SN56 cells is so toxic that the amount of STIP1 DNA that we transfected these cells with was insufficient to significantly improve cellular viability when compared to their wild type counter parts. Therefore, future studies should aim to increase the amount of STIP1 DNA transfected into STIP1-KO SN56 cells and also treating these cultures with recombinant STIP1 and to determine if this can rescue cellular viability significantly.

4.2 TDP-43 as an Hsp90 client

Hsp90 is involved with a number of cellular functions including cell cycle progression and transcriptional regulation (Karagöz & Rüdiger, 2015). Hsp90 influences these physiological events by correctly folding, activating and transporting client proteins that are critical for these processes. STIP1 has also been shown to be a scaffold protein that brings various interaction partners together, such as glycogen synthase kinase-3 beta (GSK3 β) with lysine-specific demethylase (LSD1) for cellular proliferation (Tsai et al., 2018) and Hsp90 with Piwi for developmental robustness (Gangaraju et al., 2011).

Histone LSD1 is a major epigenetic regulator that catalyzes the demethylation of the lysine 4 and lysine 9 residues on histone 3 (Shi et al., 2004). LSD1 phosphorylation has been shown to activate gene expression (Nam et al., 2014). In fact, its phosphorylation induces the acquisition of metastatic qualities in breast cancers (Feng et al., 2016). GSK3 β is a serine/threonine kinase that is involved in regulating various cellular signaling pathways (Wang & Roach, 1994). Tsai et al. (2018) showed that GSK3 β mediates LSD1 phosphorylation and that the STIP1-Hsp90 complex acts as a molecular scaffold that brings GSK3 β and LSD1 into close proximity for their interaction to occur thus influencing cellular proliferation. Additionally, STIP1 has been shown to influence development robustness, which is the maintenance of morphological features despite genetic and environmental change, through its scaffolding function (Gangaraju et al., 2011; Rutherford & Lindquist, 1998). Piwi, which is a protein implicated in epigenetic regulation, is involved with transcriptional silencing and heterochromatin formation suggesting that it is a major buffer against phenotypical changes (Rutherford & Lindquist, 1998; Yin & Lin, 2013). Gangaraju et al. (2011) report that STIP1 functions as a scaffold to mediate the interaction Hsp90 and Piwi thus influencing developmental robustness. They showed that through post-translational modifications, such as phosphorylation, Hsp90 regulates the interaction between Piwi and Piwi-interacting RNA (piRNA) influencing genetic expression.

Using similar co-immunoprecipitation studies, we showed that STIP1 interacts with TDP-43, Hsp90 and Hsp70. TDP-43 is a DNA and RNA interacting protein that influences genetic expression (Ou et al., 1995). Hsp90 has been shown to interact with TDP-43 previously and has also been found to influence its phosphorylation and full length expression (Zhang et al., 2010). We hypothesize that STIP1 influences TDP-43 stability by scaffolding the interaction between Hsp90 and TDP-43. Surprisingly, we also observed that STIP1 is not critical for this interaction to occur as TDP-43 continues to interact with Hsp90 when STIP1 is deleted. Even though STIP1 is not needed for the interaction between Hsp90 and TDP-43 to occur, STIP1 still plays a critical role in TDP-43 stability as its deletion lowers TDP-43 protein levels. Although STIP1 is unlikely to be a scaffold for this interaction, the deletion of STIP1 may make the TDP-43 Hsp90/Hsp70 complex dysfunctional leading to the changes in stability, cellular viability and survival.

Additionally, STIP1 acts as a critical regulatory node for the chaperone machinery that is required for the recruitment and stabilization Hsp90 client proteins (Beraldo et al., 2013; Lacke et al., preprint). It has been shown maintain the stability of cell growth factors and pathways in cancer cells (Tsai et al., 2016). Our results indicate that TDP-43 is also an Hsp90 client. Beraldo et al. (2013) observed that various Hsp90 clients were reduced in STIP^{-/-} mice embryos. We also observed that GRK2 and glucocorticoid receptors, which are classical Hsp90 clients, were reduced by 50% when STIP1 was deleted in SN56 cells.

Expressing STIP1 in these STIP1-KO cells allowed us to rescue Hsp90 client levels. We observed the same pattern in TDP-43 protein expression. TDP-43 protein levels were reduced by 70% in STIP1-KO cells but this decrease was rescued when we expressed STIP1 in this cell line. We also observed that TDP-43 protein levels were reduced in STIP^{-/-} mice embryos, similar to the observation of Beraldo et al. (2013) for other classical Hsp90 client proteins. Therefore, we hypothesize that TDP-43 is a Hsp90 client protein whose stability is regulated STIP1.

We also report that TDP-43 is a unique Hsp90 client as its pattern of protein expression in mice models of reduced STIP1 differ from those of classical Hsp90 clients. Lackie et al. (preprint) characterized the STIP1 Δ TPR1-KO mice which has a 50% in STIP1 level in the $\Delta TPR1^{+/-}$ knockout and an 80% reduction in the $\Delta TPR1^{-/-}$ knockout, which presented a mutated form of STIP1. They observed that Hsp90 clients were very sensitive to this reduction in STIP1 protein levels. For example, GR was reduced in both $\Delta TPR1^{+-}$ and $\Delta TPR1^{-/-}$. We observed the opposite effect of reduced STIP1 on TDP-43 in the same Δ TPR1^{-/-} mouse model. TDP-43 expression was increased 1.5-fold in the Δ TPR1^{-/-} when compared to its wildtype counterpart. These results suggest that TDP-43 may have a direct interaction with STIP1 which may regulate other aspects of its physiology. Similarly, mice that were heterozygous for the knockout of STIP1 had a four-fold increase in TDP-43 protein expression. These mice models may be having different effects on TDP-43 stability because they have reduced or mutated forms of STIP1 which may be compensated for by the chaperone network and genetic machinery, whereas the SN56 cells are complete knockouts of STIP1.

4.3 STIP1 modulates TDP-43 toxicity and proteinopathy

The overexpression of the TDP-43 homolog in yeast has been shown to be toxic (Johnson et al., 2008). In rats, overexpression of human TDP-43 in the substantia nigra, using adeno associated virus vector (AAV) leads to neuronal death (Tatom et al., 2009). Interestingly, the amount of WT TDP-43 has a dose-dependent neurodegeneration effect on cortical and spinal neurons in mice (Wils et al., 2010). This dose-dependent effect was accompanied by cytoplasmic aggregates of ubiquitinated and phosphorylated TDP-43 species which are both characteristic of ALS and FTLD patients, suggesting that overexpression may overwhelm the chaperone system. Overexpression of WT TDP-43 has also been shown to induce neuronal death in various other mouse brain regions such as the forebrain (Igaz et al., 2011). These results suggest autoregulation pathways are critical in maintaining optimal TDP-43 levels and preventing neuronal death (Ling et al., 2013). Overexpression of WT TDP-43 led to apoptosis in mouse cortical progenitor cells and immature neurons (Vogt et al., 2018). In fact, the inactivation of one copy of TDP-43 in mice has no effect on mRNA or protein levels (Kraemer et al., 2010; Sephton et al., 2010). It has also been observed that TDP-43 dependent splicing of TDP-43 mRNA plays a role in mediating this autoregulation (Avendano-Vazquez et al., 2012).

Consistent with previous studies, we observed that overexpressing WT TDP-43 is toxic in mouse neuronal cell cultures. In fact, WT TDP-43 overexpression leads to a fourfold increase in the percentage of dead and a 50% reduction in cellular viability in SN56 cells. These data suggests that the maintenance of optimal TDP-43 levels is essential for cellular survival and development in both lower level and high level organisms. In addition to autoregulation, we report that the chaperone network plays a role in maintaining TDP-43 levels. In neuronal cells that were overexpressing WT-TDP-43, the deletion of STIP1 led to a 1.5-fold increase in percentage of cells and a 50% reduction in cellular viability. Interestingly, overexpressing both WT-TDP-43 and STIP1 rescued cellular viability, which was diminished in neurons that were overexpressing only WT-TDP-43. These results suggest that STIP1 can modulate TDP-43 toxicity. Future experiments should aim to determine the mechanism by which this modulation occurs.

A common hallmark in various neurodegenerative disorders is the pathological accumulation of cytoplasmic TDP-43 (Chen-Plotkin et al., 2010; Lagier-Tourenne et al., 2010). This suggests that TDP-43 proteinopathy may contribute to the neuronal death observed in these disorders. It is unclear what causes this proteinopathy to occur. Colombrita et al. (2009) showed that oxidative stress causes TDP-43 to accumulate into cytoplasmic stress granules. Prior to this study, most researchers focused genetics and causative mutations as the causes of TDP-43 proteinopathy. Colombrita et al. (2009) proposed that environmental insults are also able induce the pathological protein aggregation observed in neurodegenerative disorders. We also observed that treating neuronal cells with sodium arsenite induced translocation of TDP-43 into cytoplasmic stress granules.

Various cellular proteins have been shown to influence TDP-43 degradation and stability through the UPP. It was recently observed that poly(A)-binding protein nuclear 1 (PABPN1), a nuclear protein involved in the post-transcriptional processing of mRNA, is potential suppressor of TDP-43 proteinopathy and toxicity (Chour et al., 2015). It was observed that overexpressing PARPN1 promotes the degradation of cytoplasmic TDP-43

present in stress granules (Chou et al., 2015). Overexpressing PARPN1 decreased cellular death while PARPN1 knockdown increased cellular dead in mouse neurons displaying TDP-43 proteinopathy (Chou et al., 2015). Lastly, they showed that PARPN1 induces misfolded TDP-43 degradation through the UPP., although the mechanism by which this occurs is unclear.

89

Similarly, the chaperone network recognizes misfolded proteins and facilitates their degradation through the UPP (Ciechanover & Kwon, 2015). In particular, CHIP recognizes these proteins and promotes their ubiquitination by interacting with ubiquitin ligases (Ciechanover & Kwon, 2015). We showed that the deletion of STIP1 results in a 50% reduction in CHIP protein levels. This decreased level of CHIP is expected to prevent the effective detection and degradation of misfolded proteins in STIP1-KO SN56 cells. As predicted, SN56 cells with eliminated TDP-43, and decreased CHIP levels, had a greater proportion of cells displaying TDP-43 proteinopathy in response to oxidative stress, when compared to their WT counterparts. Therefore, the deletion of STIP1 leads to less efficient degradation of misfolded protein through the UPP. Future experiments should aim to determine if overexpressing STIP1 can rescue TDP-43 proteinopathy in STIP1-KO cells, as does PARPN1.

4.4 TDP-43 Localization

The majority of ALS, FTLD and severe AD cases display TDP-43 pathology suggesting that these disorders have related origins (Mackenzie, 2007; Chen-Plotkin et

al., 2010). Various mouse models of these disorders replicate the expected pathology (Shan et al., 2009; Caccamo et al., 2010). The 3xTg AD mouse model displays tau, A β , and TDP-43 pathology (Oddo et al., 2003; Caccamo et al., 2010). In particular, it had increased full length TDP-43 and TDP-35 (cleaved C-terminal fragment) expression alongside increased misfolded cytoplasmic TDP-43 localization (Caccamo et al., 2010). Since the chaperone network aids in degrading misfolded proteins, overexpressing STIP1 in mouse models of TDP-43 proteinopathy may lead to the development of less severe TDP-43 proteinopathy as we observed in SN56 cells.

We crossed the 5xFAD mouse model of AD with the STIP1TgA, a mouse model with increased STIP1, to obtain 5xFADTgA which has both AD pathology and increased STIP1 protein expression. This is the first time this mouse model has been tested for TDP-43 pathology. Surprisingly, we did not find increase TDP-43 or TDP-35 protein levels in the 5xFAd as reported for the 3xTg models. This is most likely because the 5xFAD model only displays severe amyloid pathology while the 3xTg model displays both amyloid and tau pathology. This suggests that TDP-43 pathology may be linked to tau pathology since they appear to co-exist in mice models of AD. As expected, neither 5xFAD nor the 5xFADTgA mouse models had differing levels of TDP-43, when compared to control mice.

Since Δ TPR1 mice had a 40% reduction in CHIP (Lackie et al., preprint), a Hsp90 co-chaperone involved in chaperone-mediated protein degradation, and a 1.5-fold increase in TDP-43 protein expression, we expected to see TDP-43 mislocalization in the cortices of these mice. Surprisingly, the Δ TPR1 mouse model displayed no TDP-43 mislocalization, although TDP-43 levels seem to be increased.

5 Conclusion

Dysregulation of the chaperone network has been suggested to play a majorrole in neurodegenerative disorders. Being a master controller of the chaperone network, STIP1 plays a critical role in cellular survival and in maintaining the stability of various Hsp90 client and co-chaperone proteins. We suggest that TDP-43 is a unique Hsp90 client whose stability can be modulated by STIP1. Increased STIP1 levels can also mitigate TDP-43 toxicity making it a potential target treatments of neurodegenerative disorders. Future studies should evaluate these proposals in mouse models. Overall, our findings propose novel mechanisms by which TDP-43 pathology may develop which is a significant step towards developing effective treatments of neurodegenerative disorders.

5.1 Limitations and Future Directions

5.1.1 Hsp Clients

We performed our SN56 cell CO-IPs studies numerous times be precipitating our endogenous TDP-43. In order to confirm that TDP-43 is a STIP1 and Hsp90 client, we must try to reverse this immunoprecipitation by pulling down its interaction partners (Hsp70 and Hsp90). Additionally, our findings involving the *STIP1*^{-/-} embryos were obtained in only 2 mice. Future experiments need embryos and need to be repeated multiple time. This is critical to understand how the TDP-43-STIP1 interaction varies at different

stages in the developmental cycle. Experiments could also be performed using antibodies against phosphorylated TDP-43. Immunoblots and immunohistochemistry studies need to be conducted with a positive control (eg. sodium arsenite treatment) to truly ensure that there is mislocalized or phosphorylated TDP-43 in STIP1-KO SN56 cells. Additionally, it will be a more sensitive method for detecting granules in the stress condition studies. Currently, we used a C-terminal specific TDP-43 antibody that detects both full length and cleaved TDP-43 species.

5.1.2 Rescue of Cellular Toxicity and Viability

We optimized our transfection conditions for 100 ng of DNA (per well in 96-well plate) as recommended by the Lipofectamine protocol. This amount of DNA was sufficient to rescue cellular viability in WT SN56 cells that were overexpressing WT TDP-43 but not in STIP1-KO cells that were also overexpressing WT TDP-43. Additionally, expressing STIP1 in STIP1-KO SN56 cells led to a tendency for cellular viability to increase. Future experiments need to increase the amount of DNA being transfected and see if this can rescue cellular viability. Changing the amount of DNA will require the optimization of Lipofectamine reagents. These cultures can also be treated with recombinant STIP1 in attempt to rescue viability. Extracellular STIP1 has shown to serve a protective function against protein synthesis inhibitors in cultures neurons (Lopes et al., 2005).

5.1.3 Mislocalization studies

The majority of the literature on TDP-43 focuses on proteinopathy and aggregation. Even though we see differences in protein levels, we would like to look at TDP-43 phosphorylation, and mislocalization. A interesting future experiment would be to use sodium arsenite to stress cells and then use fractional protein extractions in order to confirm that knockouts are indeed more sensitive to STIP1 deletion and proteinopathy. Additionally, we only measured the percent of cells with mislocalized TDP-43. Other measures that can be employed are cytoplasmic and nuclear intensity measures, stress granule size, co-localization measures and ubiquitination measures. These measures are much more sensitive and would elucidate the intricacies of this TDP-43-STIP1 interaction.

TDP-43 mouse models need to be used to better understand TDP-43 stability and to expand our findings to the organismal level. TDP-43 localization should be studied using immunofluorescence, immunohistochemistry and fractional protein extraction studies. Members of the molecular chaperone network should also be studied in these mouse models to determine the role they play in TDP-43 proteinopathy. These mutated TDP-43 models can be crossed with mice overexpressing and under-expressing STIP1 to see how this interaction is affected. Behavioural studies can also be conducted to determine if the neuropsychological symptoms observed in patients with neurodegenerative diseases are also present in mice and if they can be extinguished by breeding mice with increased STIP1.

Bibliography

- Alami NH, Smith RB, Carrasco MA, et al. Axonal transport of TDP-43 mRNA granules is impaired by ALS-causing mutations. Neuron 2014;81:536–543.
- Ali MM, Roe SM, Vaughan CK, Meyer P, Panaretou B, Piper PW, Prodromou C, Pearl LH. Crystal structure of an Hsp90-nucleotide-p23/Sba1 closed chaperone complex. Nature. 2006 Apr 20;440(7087):1013-7. PubMed PMID: 16625188; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC5703407. Free full textCited in PMCRelated citations
- Amador-Ortiz C, Lin WL, Ahmed Z, Personett D, Davies P, Duara R, Graff-Radford NR, Hutton ML, Dickson DW. TDP-43 immunoreactivity in hippocampal sclerosis and Alzheimer's disease. Ann Neurol. 2007 May;61(5):435-45. PubMed PMID: 17469117.
- Ambegaokar, S. S. & Jackson, G. R. Functional genomic screen and network analysis reveal novel modifiers of tauopathy dissociated from tau phosphorylation. *Human molecular genetics* 20, 4947-4977, doi:10.1093/hmg/ddr432 (2011).
- Ansar S, Burlison JA, Hadden MK, et al. A non-toxic Hsp90 inhibitor protects neurons from Abeta-induced toxicity. Bioorganic & medicinal chemistry letters. 2007 Apr 1;17(7):1984–1990. [PubMed]
- Arantes, C., Nomizo, R., Lopes, M. H., Hajj, G. N., Lima, F. R., and Martins, V. R. (2009) Prion protein and its ligand stress inducible protein 1 regulate astrocyte development. *Glia* 57, 1439–1449
- •
- Arias E, Cuervo AM. Chaperone-mediated autophagy in protein quality control. Curr Opin Cell Biol. 2011;23:184–189. [PMC free article] [PubMed]
- Arnold ES, Ling SC, Huelga SC, et al. ALS-linked TDP-43 muta- tions produce aberrant RNA splicing and adult-onset motor neuron disease without aggregation or loss of nuclear TDP-43. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2013;110:E736-E745.
- Avendaño-Vázquez SE, Dhir A, Bembich S, Buratti E, Proudfoot N, Baralle FE. Autoregulation of TDP-43 mRNA levels involves interplay between transcription, splicing, and alternative polyA site selection. Genes Dev. 2012 Aug 1;26(15):1679-84. doi: 10.1101/gad.194829.112. PubMed PMID: 22855830; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC3418585.
- Avila J, Lim F, Moreno F, Belmonte C, Cuello AC. Tau function and dysfunction in neurons: its role in neurodegenerative disorders. Mol Neurobiol. 2002 Jun;25(3):213-31. Review. PubMed PMID: 12109872.
- Bae J, Munshi A, Li C, et al. Heat shock protein 90 is critical for regulation of phenotype and functional activity of human T lymphocytes and NK cells. Journal of immunology. 2013 Feb 1;190(3):1360–1371. [PMC free article] [PubMed]
- Banks GT, Kuta A, Isaacs AM, Fisher EM. TDP-43 is a culprit in human neurodegeneration, and not just an innocent bystander. Mamm Genome. 2008 May;19(5):299-305. doi: 10.1007/s00335-008-9117-x. Epub 2008 Jul 1. Review.

PubMed PMID: 18592312; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC2515551.

- Bardwell JC, Craig EA. Eukaryotic Mr 83,000 heat shock protein has a homologue in Escherichia coli. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1987 Aug;84(15):5177-81. PubMed PMID: 3299380; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC298817.
- Barmada SJ, Serio A, Arjun A, et al. Autophagy induction enhances TDP43 turnover and survival in neuronal ALS models. Nat Chem Biol 2014;10:677–685.
- Barrangou R, Fremaux C, Deveau H, Richards M, Boyaval P, Moineau S, Romero DA, Horvath P. CRISPR provides acquired resistance against viruses in prokaryotes. Science. 2007 Mar 23;315(5819):1709-12. PubMed PMID: 17379808.
- Basu S, Srivastava PK. Heat shock proteins: the fountainhead of innate and adaptive immune responses. Cell Stress Chaperones. 2000 Nov;5(5):443-51. Review. PubMed PMID: 11189450; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC312875.
- Bemporad F, Calloni G, Campioni S, Plakoutsi G, Taddei N, Chiti F. Sequence and structural determinants of amyloid fibril formation. Acc Chem Res. 2006 Sep;39(9):620-7. Review.
- Benesch JL, Ayoub M, Robinson CV, Aquilina JA. Small heat shock protein activity is regulated by variable oligomeric substructure. J Biol Chem. 2008 Oct 17;283(42):28513-7. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M804729200. Epub 2008 Aug 19. PubMed PMID: 18713743; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC2661405. Free full textCited in PMCRelated citations
- Beraldo FH, Arantes CP, Santos TG, Queiroz NG, Young K, Rylett RJ, Markus RP, Prado MA, Martins VR. Role of alpha7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor in calcium signaling induced by prion protein interaction with stress-inducible protein 1. J Biol Chem. 2010 Nov 19;285(47):36542-50. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M110.157263. Epub 2010 Sep 13. PubMed PMID: 20837487; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC2978582. Free full textCited in PMCRelated citations
- Beraldo FH, Soares IN, Goncalves DF, Fan J, Thomas AA, Santos TG, Mohammad AH, Roffé M, Calder MD, Nikolova S, Hajj GN, Guimaraes AL, Massensini AR, Welch I, Betts DH, Gros R, Drangova M, Watson AJ, Bartha R, Prado VF, Martins VR, Prado MA. Stress-inducible phosphoprotein 1 has unique cochaperone activity during development and regulates cellular response to ischemia via the prion protein. FASEB J. 2013 Sep;27(9):3594-607. doi: 10.1096/fj.13-232280. Epub 2013 May 31. PubMed PMID: 23729591. Cited in PMCRelated citations
- Blair LJ, Sabbagh JJ, Dickey CA. Targeting Hsp90 and its co-chaperones to treat Alzheimer's disease. Expert Opin Ther Targets. 2014 Oct;18(10):1219-32. doi: 10.1517/14728222.2014.943185. Epub 2014 Jul 29. Review. PubMed PMID: 25069659; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC4625388. Free full textCited in PMCRelated citations
- Blusztajn JK, Venturini A, Jackson DA, Lee HJ, Wainer BH. Acetylcholine synthesis and release is enhanced by dibutyryl cyclic AMP in a neuronal cell line derived from mouse septum. J Neurosci. 1992 Mar;12(3):793-9. PubMed PMID: 1312135. Cited in PMCRelated citations
- Braak H, Braak E. Evolution of the neuropathology of Alzheimer's disease. Acta Neurol Scand Suppl. 1996;165:3-12. Review.

- Braak H, Braak E. Staging of Alzheimer's disease-related neurofibrillary changes. Neurobiol Aging. 1995 May-Jun;16(3):271-8; discussion 278-84.
- Brehme M, Voisine C, Rolland T, Wachi S, Soper JH, Zhu Y, Orton K, Villella A, Garza D, Vidal M, Ge H, Morimoto RI (2014) A chaperome subnetwork safeguards proteostasis in aging and neurodegenerative disease. *Cell reports* 9: 1135-50
- Brehme, M. *et al.* A chaperome subnetwork safeguards proteostasis in aging and neurodegenerative disease. *Cell Rep* 9, 1135-1150, doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2014.09.042 (2014).
- Brodsky JL, Chiosis G. Hsp70 molecular chaperones: emerging roles in human disease and identification of small molecule modulators. Curr Top Med Chem. 2006;6(11):1215-25. Review. PubMed PMID: 16842158. Cited in PMCRelated citations
- Bruey JM, Ducasse C, Bonniaud P, Ravagnan L, Susin SA, Diaz-Latoud C, Gurbuxani S, Arrigo AP, Kroemer G, Solary E, Garrido C. Hsp27 negatively regulates cell death by interacting with cytochrome c. Nat Cell Biol. 2000 Sep;2(9):645-52. PubMed PMID: 10980706. Cited in PMCRelated citations
- Bruijn LI, Houseweart MK, Kato S, Anderson KL, Anderson SD, Ohama E, Reaume AG, Scott RW, Cleveland DW. Aggregation and motor neuron toxicity of an ALS-linked SOD1 mutant independent from wild-type SOD1. Science. 1998 Sep 18;281(5384):1851-4.
- Buchman TG, Abello PA, Smith EH, Bulkley GB. Induction of heat shock response leads to apoptosis in endothelial cells previously exposed to endotoxin. The American journal of physiology. 1993 Jul;265(1 Pt 2):H165–H170. [PubMed]
- Buchner J. Bacterial Hsp90--desperately seeking clients. Mol Microbiol. 2010 May;76(3):540-4. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2010.07140.x. Epub 2010 Mar 25. PubMed PMID: 20345652. Cited in PMCRelated citations
- Caccamo A, Magrí A, Oddo S. Age-dependent changes in TDP-43 levels in a mouse model of Alzheimer disease are linked to Aβ oligomers accumulation. Mol Neurodegener. 2010 Nov 11;5:51. doi: 10.1186/1750-1326-5-51. PubMed PMID: 21070634; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC2989316.
- Caetano FA, Lopes MH, Hajj GN, Machado CF, Pinto Arantes C, Magalhães AC, Vieira Mde P, Américo TA, Massensini AR, Priola SA, Vorberg I, Gomez MV, Linden R, Prado VF, Martins VR, Prado MA. Endocytosis of prion protein is required for ERK1/2 signaling induced by stress-inducible protein 1. J Neurosci. 2008 Jun 25;28(26):6691-702. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1701-08.2008. PubMed PMID: 18579743; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC2739057. Free full textCited in PMCRelated citations
- Casas C, Herrando-Grabulosa M, Manzano R, Mancuso R, Osta R, Navarro X. Early presymptomatic cholinergic dysfunction in a murine model of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Brain Behav. 2013 Mar;3(2):145-58. doi: 10.1002/brb3.104. Epub 2013 Feb 17. Erratum in: Brain Behav. 2013 May;3(3):328. PubMed PMID: 23531559; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC3607155.
- Chang HY, Hou SC, Way TD, Wong CH, Wang IF. Heat-shock protein dysregulation is associated with functional and pathological TDP-43 aggregation. Nat Commun. 2013;4:2757. doi: 10.1038/ncomms3757. PubMed PMID:

24220679. Cited in PMCRelated citations

- Chang HC, Nathan DF, Lindquist S (1997) In vivo analysis of the Hsp90 cochaperone Sti1 (p60). *Molecular and cellular biology* 17: 318-25
- Chen Y, Wang B, Liu D, et al. Hsp90 chaperone inhibitor 17-AAG attenuates Abeta-induced synaptic toxicity and memory impairment. The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience. 2014 Feb 12;34(7):2464–2470. [PMC free article] [PubMed]
- Chen-Plotkin AS, Lee VM, Trojanowski JQ. TAR DNA-binding protein 43 in neurodegenerative disease. Nat Rev Neurol. 2010 Apr;6(4):211-20. doi: 10.1038/nrneurol.2010.18. Epub 2010 Mar 16. Review. PubMed PMID: 20234357; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC2892118.
- Chiang H, Terlecky S, Plant C, Dice JF. A role for a 70-kilodalton heat shock protein in lysosomal degradation of intracellular proteins. Science. 1989;246:382–385. [PubMed]
- Chiarini LB, Freitas AR, Zanata SM, Brentani RR, Martins VR, Linden R. Cellular prion protein transduces neuroprotective signals. EMBO J. 2002 Jul 1;21(13):3317-26. PubMed PMID: 12093733; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC125390.
- Chida J, Kido H. Extraction and quantification of adenosine triphosphate in mammalian tissues and cells. Methods Mol Biol. 2014;1098:21-32. doi: 10.1007/978-1-62703-718-1_2. PubMed PMID: 24166365.
- Chiti F, Dobson CM. Protein misfolding, functional amyloid, and human disease. Annu Rev Biochem. 2006;75:333-66. Review
- Choi I, Lee Y, Park JY, Song Y, Chang EJ, Kang SW. Radicicol induces intracellular accumulation of glycan-deficient clusterin variant. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2015 Mar 13;458(3):555-60. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2015.02.005. Epub 2015 Feb 11. PubMed PMID: 25680466.
- Chou CC, Alexeeva OM, Yamada S, Pribadi A, Zhang Y, Mo B, Williams KR, Zarnescu DC, Rossoll W. PABPN1 suppresses TDP-43 toxicity in ALS disease models. Hum Mol Genet. 2015 Sep 15;24(18):5154-73. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddv238. Epub 2015 Jun 30. PubMed PMID: 26130692; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC4550816.
- Ciechanover A, Kwon YT. Degradation of misfolded proteins in neurodegenerative diseases: therapeutic targets and strategies. Exp Mol Med. 2015 Mar 13;47:e147. doi: 10.1038/emm.2014.117. Review. PubMed PMID: 25766616; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC4351408.
- Coleman PD, Flood DG. Neuron numbers and dendritic extent in normal aging and Alzheimer's disease. Neurobiol Aging. 1987 Nov-Dec;8(6):521-45. Review.
- Colombrita C, Zennaro E, Fallini C, et al. TDP-43 is recruited to stress granules in conditions of oxidative insult. J Neurochem 2009;111:1051–1061.
- Cuervo AM, Dice JF. Age-related decline in chaperone-mediated autophagy. J Biol Chem. 2000;275:31505–31513. [PubMed
- Cuervo AM, Stefanis L, Fredenburg R, Lansbury PT, Sulzer D. Impaired degradation of mutant alpha-synuclein by chaperone-mediated autophagy. Science. 2004;305:1292–1295. [PubMed]

- Cuervo AM, Wong E. Chaperone-mediated autophagy: roles in disease and aging. Cell Res. 2014 Jan;24(1):92-104. doi: 10.1038/cr.2013.153. Epub 2013 Nov 26. Review. PubMed PMID: 24281265; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC3879702. Free full textCited in PMCRelated citations
- Dai C, Whitesell L, Rogers AB, Lindquist S. Heat shock factor 1 is a powerful multifaceted modifier of carcinogenesis. Cell. 2007 Sep 21;130(6):1005-18. PubMed PMID: 17889646; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC2586609. Free full textCited in PMCRelated citations
- Dasuri K, Ebenezer PJ, Uranga RM, Gavilán E, Zhang L, Fernandez-Kim SO, Bruce-Keller AJ, Keller JN. Amino acid analog toxicity in primary rat neuronal and astrocyte cultures: implications for protein misfolding and TDP-43 regulation. J Neurosci Res. 2011 Sep;89(9):1471-7. doi: 10.1002/jnr.22677. Epub 2011 May 23. PubMed PMID: 21608013; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC3175609.
- Daugaard M, Jäättelä M, Rohde M. Hsp70-2 is required for tumor cell growth and survival. Cell Cycle. 2005 Jul;4(7):877-80. Epub 2005 Jul 11. PubMed PMID: 15970673. Cited in PMCRelated citations
- Daugaard M, Rohde M, Jäättelä M. The heat shock protein 70 family: Highly homologous proteins with overlapping and distinct functions. FEBS Lett. 2007 Jul 31;581(19):3702-10. Epub 2007 May 25. Review. PubMed PMID: 17544402. Cited in PMCRelated citations
- Daugaard M, Rohde M, Jäättelä M. The heat shock protein 70 family: Highly homologous proteins with overlapping and distinct functions. FEBS Lett. 2007 Jul 31;581(19):3702-10. Epub 2007 May 25. Review. PubMed PMID: 17544402. Cited in PMCRelated citations
- Delacourte A. Tau, a biological marker of neurodegenerative diseases. HandbClin Neurol. 2008;89:161-72.
- Deocaris CC, Kaul SC, Wadhwa R. On the brotherhood of the mitochondrial chaperones mortalin and heat shock protein 60. Cell Stress Chaperones. 2006
- Dewey CM, Cenik B, Sephton CF, et al. TDP-43 is directed to stress granules by sorbitol, a novel physiological osmotic and oxidative stressor. Mol Cell Biol 2010:MCB.01279-10.
- Dewji NN, Do C. Heat shock factor-1 mediates the transcriptional activation of Alzheimer's beta-amyloid precursor protein gene in response to stress. Brain Res Mol Brain Res. 1996 Jan;35(1-2):325-8. PubMed PMID: 8717371.Cited in PMCRelated citations
- Dewji NN, Do C. Heat shock factor-1 mediates the transcriptional activation of Alzheimer's beta-amyloid precursor protein gene in response to stress. Brain research Molecular brain research. 1996 Jan;35(1–2):325–328. [PubMed]
- Dickey CA, Kamal A, Lundgren K, Klosak N, Bailey RM, Dunmore J, Ash P, Shoraka S, Zlatkovic J, Eckman CB, Patterson C, Dickson DW, Nahman NS Jr, Hutton M, Burrows F, Petrucelli L. The high-affinity HSP90-CHIP complex recognizes and selectively degrades phosphorylated tau client proteins. J Clin Invest. 2007 Mar;117(3):648-58. Epub 2007 Feb 15. PubMed PMID: 17304350; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC1794119. Free full textCited in PMCRelated citations
- Dokladny K, Zuhl MN, Mandell M, Bhattacharya D, Schneider S, Deretic V, Moseley PL. Regulatory coordination between two major intracellular homeostatic systems: heat shock response and autophagy. J Biol Chem. 2013 May 24;288(21):14959-72. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M113.462408. Epub 2013 Apr 10. PubMed PMID: 23576438; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC3663517.
- Dokladny K, Myers OB, Moseley PL. Heat shock response and autophagy-cooperation and control. Autophagy. 2015;11(2):200-13. doi: 10.1080/15548627.2015.1009776. Review. PubMed PMID: 25714619; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC4502786.
- Dutta R, Inouye M. GHKL, an emergent ATPase/kinase superfamily. Trends Biochem Sci. 2000 Jan;25(1):24-8. Review. PubMed PMID: 10637609.Cited in PMCRelated citations
- Ellis J. Proteins as molecular chaperones. Nature. 1987 Jul 30-Aug 5;328(6129):378-9. PubMed PMID: 3112578. Cited in PMCRelated citations
- Estes PS, Boehringer A, Zwick R, Tang JE, Grigsby B, Zarnescu DC. Wild-type and A315T mutant TDP-43 exert differential neurotoxicity in a Drosophila model of ALS. Hum Mol Genet. 2011 Jun 15;20(12):2308-21. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddr124. Epub 2011 Mar 26. PubMed PMID: 21441568; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC3098735. Free full textCited in PMCRelated citations
- Eustace BK, Jay DG. Extracellular roles for the molecular chaperone, hsp90. Cell Cycle. 2004 Sep;3(9):1098-100. Epub 2004 Sep 14. Review. Erratum in: Cell Cycle. 2010 Dec 1;9(23):4769. PubMed PMID: 15326368.
- Fan CY, Lee S, Cyr DM. Mechanisms for regulation of Hsp70 function by Hsp40. Cell Stress Chaperones. 2003 Winter;8(4):309-16. Review. PubMed PMID: 15115283; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC514902. Free full textCited in PMCRelated citations
- Feng Y, He D, Yao Z, Klionsky DJ. The machinery of macroautophagy. CellRes. 2014 Jan;24(1):24-41. doi: 10.1038/cr.2013.168. Epub 2013 Dec 24. Review. PubMed PMID: 24366339; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC3879710.
- Feng J, Xu G, Liu J, Zhang N, Li L, Ji J, Zhang J, Zhang L, Wang G, Wang X, Tan J, Huang B, Lu J, Zhang Y. Phosphorylation of LSD1 at Ser112 is crucial for its function in induction of EMT and metastasis in breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2016 Oct;159(3):443-56. doi: 10.1007/s10549-016-3959-9. Epub 2016 Aug 29. PubMed PMID: 27572339.
- Flom, G., Behal, R. H., Rosen, L., Cole, D. G., and Johnson, J. L. (2007). Definition of the minimal fragments of STIP1 required for dimerization, interaction with Hsp70 and Hsp90 and *in vivo* functions. *Biochem. J.* 404, 159–167. doi: 10.1042/BJ20070084
- Flom G, Weekes J, Williams JJ, Johnson JL (2006) Effect of mutation of the tetratricopeptide repeat and asparatate-proline 2 domains of Sti1 on Hsp90 signaling and interaction in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *Genetics* 172: 41-51
- Florin L, Becker KA, Sapp C, Lambert C, Sirma H, Müller M, Streeck RE, Sapp M. Nuclear translocation of papillomavirus minor capsid protein L2 requires Hsc70. J Virol. 2004 Jun;78(11):5546-53. PubMed PMID: 15140951; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC415841. Free full textCited in PMCRelated citations

- Freeman BC, Morimoto RI. The human cytosolic molecular chaperones hsp90, hsp70 (hsc70) and hdj-1 have distinct roles in recognition of a non-native protein and protein refolding. EMBO J. 1996 Jun 17;15(12):2969-79. PubMed PMID: 8670798; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC450238.
- Gaiser AM, Brandt F, Richter K. The non-canonical Hop protein from Caenorhabditis elegans exerts essential functions and forms binary complexes with either Hsc70 or Hsp90. J Mol Biol. 2009 Aug 21;391(3):621-34. doi: 10.1016/j.jmb.2009.06.051. Epub 2009 Jun 25. PubMed PMID: 19559711
- Gangaraju VK, Yin H, Weiner MM, Wang J, Huang XA, Lin H. Drosophila Piwi functions in Hsp90-mediated suppression of phenotypic variation. Nat Genet. 2011 Feb;43(2):153-8. doi: 10.1038/ng.743. Epub 2010 Dec 26. PubMed PMID: 21186352; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC3443399.
- Gassler CS, Wiederkehr T, Brehmer D, Bukau B, Mayer MP. Bag-1M accelerates nucleotide release for human Hsc70 and Hsp70 and can act concentration-dependent as positive and negative cofactor. J Biol Chem. 2001 Aug 31;276(35):32538-44. Epub 2001 Jul 5. PubMed PMID: 11441021. Cited in PMCRelated citations
- Genest O, Hoskins JR, Camberg JL, Doyle SM, Wickner S. Heat shock protein 90 from Escherichia coli collaborates with the DnaK chaperone system in client protein remodeling. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2011 May 17;108(20):8206-11. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1104703108. Epub 2011 Apr 27. PubMed PMID: 21525416; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC3100916. Free full textCited in PMCRelated citations
- Gerdes J, Schwab U, Lemke H, Stein H. Production of a mouse monoclonal antibody reactive with a human nuclear antigen associated with cell proliferation. Int J Cancer. 1983 Jan 15;31(1):13-20. PubMed PMID: 6339421.
- Gitcho MA, Baloh RH, Chakraverty S, Mayo K, Norton JB, Levitch D, Hatanpaa KJ, White CL 3rd, Bigio EH, Caselli R, Baker M, Al-Lozi MT, Morris JC, Pestronk A, Rademakers R, Goate AM, Cairns NJ. TDP-43 A315T mutation in familial motor neuron disease. Ann Neurol. 2008 Apr;63(4):535-8. doi: 10.1002/ana.21344. PubMed PMID: 18288693; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC2747362.
- Glover JR, Lindquist S. Hsp104, Hsp70, and Hsp40: a novel chaperone system that rescues previously aggregated proteins. Cell. 1998 Jul 10;94(1):73-82. PubMed PMID: 9674429. Cited in PMCRelated citations
- Goloubinoff P, Mogk A, Zvi AP, Tomoyasu T, Bukau B. Sequential mechanism of solubilization and refolding of stable protein aggregates by a bichaperone network. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1999 Nov 23;96(24):13732-7. PubMed PMID: 10570141; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC24133. Free full textCited in PMCRelated citations
- Grad I, Cederroth CR, Walicki J, Grey C, Barluenga S, Winssinger N, De Massy B, Nef S, Picard D. The molecular chaperone Hsp90α is required for meiotic progression of spermatocytes beyond pachytene in the mouse. PLoS One. 2010 Dec 31;5(12):e15770. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0015770. PubMed PMID: 21209834; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC3013136. Free full textCited in PMCRelated citations

- Green H. Human genetic diseases due to codon reiteration: relationship to an evolutionary mechanism. Cell. 1993 Sep 24;74(6):955-6.
- Gregory JM, Barros TP, Meehan S, Dobson CM, Luheshi LM. The aggregation and neurotoxicity of TDP-43 and its ALS-associated 25 kDa fragment are differentially affected by molecular chaperones in Drosophila. PLoS One. 2012;7(2):e31899. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0031899. Epub 2012 Feb 22. PubMed PMID: 22384095; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC3284513. Free full textCited in PMCRelated citations
- Gregory RI, Yan K-p, Amuthan G, et al. The microprocessor com- plex mediates the genesis of microRNAs. Nature 2004;432:235–240.
- Guerreiro RJ, Gustafson DR, Hardy J. The genetic architecture of Alzheimer's disease: beyond APP, PSENs and APOE. Neurobiology of aging. 2012 Mar;33(3):437–456. [PMC free article] [PubMed]
- Gurbuxani S., Schmitt E., Cande C., Parcellier A., Hammann A., Daugas E., Kouranti I., Spahr C., Pance A., Kroemer G., Garrido C. Heat shock protein 70 binding inhibits the nuclear import of apoptosis-inducing factor. *Oncogene*. 2003;22(43):6669–6678. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc.1206794. [PubMed] [Cross Ref]
- Gusella J. F., MacDonald M. E. Huntingtin: a single bait hooks many species. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*. 1998;8(3):425–430. doi: 10.1016/S0959-4388(98)80071-8. [PubMed] [Cross Ref]
- Hajj, G. N., Arantes, C. P., Dias, M. V., Roffe, M., Costa-Silva, B., Lopes, M. H., Porto-Carreiro, I., Rabachini, T., Lima, F. R., Beraldo, F. H., Prado, M. A. M., Linden, R., and Martins, V. R. (2013) The unconventional secretion of stressinducible protein 1 by a heterogeneous population of extracellular vesicles. [Epub ahead of print] *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.* 10.1007/s00018-013–1328-y
- Hampton CR, Shimamoto A, Rothnie CL, Griscavage-Ennis J, Chong A, Dix DJ, Verrier ED, Pohlman TH. HSP70.1 and -70.3 are required for late-phase protection induced by ischemic preconditioning of mouse hearts. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 2003 Aug;285(2):H866-74. Epub 2003 Apr 24. PubMed PMID: 12714332. Cited in PMCRelated citations
- Han J, Xu X, Qin H, Liu A, Fan Z, Kang L, Fu J, Liu J, Ye Q. The molecular mechanism and potential role of heat shock-induced p53 protein accumulation. Mol Cell Biochem. 2013 Jun;378(1-2):161-9. doi: 10.1007/s11010-013-1607-9. Epub 2013 Mar 2. PubMed PMID: 23456460.
- Harris SF, Shiau AK, Agard DA. The crystal structure of the carboxy-terminal dimerization domain of htpG, the Escherichia coli Hsp90, reveals a potential substrate binding site. Structure. 2004 Jun;12(6):1087-97. PubMed PMID: 15274928. Cited in PMCRelated citations
- Hartl FU, Hayer-Hartl M. Converging concepts of protein folding in vitro and in vivo. Nat Struct Mol Biol. 2009 Jun;16(6):574-81. doi: 10.1038/nsmb.1591. Review. PubMed PMID: 19491934. Cited in PMCRelated citations
- Hartl FU. Molecular chaperones in cellular protein folding. Nature. 1996 Jun 13;381(6583):571-9. Review. PubMed PMID: 8637592. Cited in PMCRelated citations
- Henderson B, Pockley AG. Molecular chaperones and protein-folding catalysts as

intercellular signaling regulators in immunity and inflammation. Journal of leukocyte biology. 2010 Sep;88(3):445–462. [PubMed]

- Ho SW, Tsui YT, Wong TT, et al. Effects of 17-allylamino-17demethoxygeldanamycin (17-AAG) in transgenic mouse models of frontotemporal lobar degeneration and Alzheimer's disease. Translational neurodegeneration. 2013;2(1):24. [PMC free article] [PubMed]
- Hoffner G, Djian P. Protein aggregation in Huntington's disease. Biochimie. 2002 Apr;84(4):273-8. Review.
- Homma S, Beermann ML, Boyce FM, Miller JB. Expression of FSHD-related DUX4-FL alters proteostasis and induces TDP-43 aggregation. Ann Clin Transl Neurol. 2015 Feb;2(2):151-66. doi: 10.1002/acn3.158. Epub 2015 Jan 15. PubMed PMID: 25750920; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC4338956.
- Hong SW, Vierling E. Mutants of Arabidopsis thaliana defective in the acquisition of tolerance to high temperature stress. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2000 Apr 11;97(8):4392-7. PubMed PMID: 10760305; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC18252. Free full textCited in PMCRelated citations
- Hunt CR, Dix DJ, Sharma GG, Pandita RK, Gupta A, Funk M, Pandita TK. Genomic instability and enhanced radiosensitivity in Hsp70.1- and Hsp70.3deficient mice. Mol Cell Biol. 2004 Jan;24(2):899-911. PubMed PMID: 14701760; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC343815. Free full textCited in PMCRelated citations
- Igaz LM, Kwong LK, Lee EB, Chen-Plotkin A, Swanson E, Unger T, Malunda J, Xu Y, Winton MJ, Trojanowski JQ, Lee VM. Dysregulation of the ALSassociated gene TDP-43 leads to neuronal death and degeneration in mice. J Clin Invest. 2011 Feb;121(2):726-38. doi: 10.1172/JCI44867. Epub 2011 Jan 4. PubMed PMID: 21206091; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC3026736.
- Jana N. R., Tanaka M., Wang G.-H., Nukina N. Polyglutamine length-dependent interaction of Hsp40 and Hsp70 family chaperones with truncated N-terminal huntingtin: their role in suppression of aggregation and cellular toxicity. *Human Molecular Genetics*. 2000;9(13):2009–2018. doi: 10.1093/hmg/9.13.2009. [PubMed] [Cross Ref]
- Jana NR, Tanaka M, Wang Gh, Nukina N. Polyglutamine length-dependent interaction of Hsp40 and Hsp70 family chaperones with truncated N-terminal huntingtin: their role in suppression of aggregation and cellular toxicity. Hum Mol Genet. 2000 Aug 12;9(13):2009-18. PubMed PMID: 10942430. Cited in PMCRelated citations
- Janssens J, Van Broeckhoven C. Pathological mechanisms underlying TDP-43 driven neurodegeneration in FTLD-ALS spectrum disorders. Hum Mol Genet. 2013 Oct 15;22(R1):R77-87. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddt349. Epub 2013 Jul 29. Review. PubMed PMID: 23900071; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC3782069.
- Johnson BS, McCaffery JM, Lindquist S, Gitler AD. A yeast TDP-43 proteinopathy model: Exploring the molecular determinants of TDP-43 aggregation and cellular toxicity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2008 Apr 29;105(17):6439-44. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0802082105. Epub 2008 Apr 23. PubMed PMID: 18434538; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC2359814.

- Johnson BD, Schumacher RJ, Ross ED, Toft DO (1998) Hop modulates Hsp70/Hsp90 interactions in protein folding. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 273: 3679-86
- Kakeda M, Arock M, Schlapbach C, Yawalkar N. Increased expression of heat shock protein 90 in keratinocytes and mast cells in patients with psoriasis. Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology. 2014 Apr;70(4):683–690. e1. [PubMed]
- Kalia LV, Lang AE. Parkinson's disease. Lancet. 2015 Aug 29;386(9996):896-912. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(14)61393-3. Epub 2015 Apr 19. Review.
- Kampinga HH, Craig EA. The HSP70 chaperone machinery: J proteins as drivers of functional specificity. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2010 Aug;11(8):579-92. doi: 10.1038/nrm2941. Review. Erratum in: Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2010 Oct;11(10):750. PubMed PMID: 20651708; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC3003299. Free full textCited in PMCRelated citations
- Karagöz GE, Rüdiger SG. Hsp90 interaction with clients. Trends Biochem Sci. 2015 Feb;40(2):117-25. doi: 10.1016/j.tibs.2014.12.002. Epub 2015 Jan 9. Review. PubMed PMID: 25579468. Cited in PMCRelated citations
- Karagöz GE, Duarte AM, Akoury E, Ippel H, Biernat J, Morán Luengo T, Radli M, Didenko T, Nordhues BA, Veprintsev DB, Dickey CA, Mandelkow E, Zweckstetter M, Boelens R, Madl T, Rüdiger SG. Hsp90-Tau complex reveals molecular basis for specificity in chaperone action. Cell. 2014 Feb 27;156(5):963-74. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2014.01.037. PubMed PMID: 24581495; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC4263503.
- King OD, Gitler AD, Shorter J. The tip of the iceberg: RNA-binding proteins with prion-like domains in neurodegenerative disease. Brain Res 2012;1462:61–80.
- Kirschke E, Goswami D, Southworth D, Griffin PR, Agard DA. Glucocorticoid receptor function regulated by coordinated action of the Hsp90 and Hsp70 chaperone cycles. Cell. 2014 Jun 19;157(7):1685-97. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2014.04.038. PubMed PMID: 24949977; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC4087167.
- Koga H, Cuervo AM. Chaperone-mediated autophagy dysfunction in the pathogenesis of neurodegeneration. Neurobiol Dis. 2011;43:29–37. [PMC free article] [PubMed]
- Koh JY, Yang LL, Cotman CW. Beta-amyloid protein increases the vulnerability of cultured cortical neurons to excitotoxic damage. Brain Res. 1990 Nov 19;533(2):315-20.
- Kosmaoglou M, Schwarz N, Bett JS, Cheetham ME. Molecular chaperones and photoreceptor function. Prog Retin Eye Res. 2008 Jul;27(4):434-49. doi: 10.1016/j.preteyeres.2008.03.001. Epub 2008 Mar 29. Review. PubMed PMID: 18490186; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC2568879.
- Kraemer BC, Schuck T, Wheeler JM, Robinson LC, Trojanowski JQ, Lee VM, Schellenberg GD. Loss of murine TDP-43 disrupts motor function and plays an essential role in embryogenesis. Acta Neuropathol. 2010 Apr;119(4):409-19. doi: 10.1007/s00401-010-0659-0. Epub 2010 Mar 3. PubMed PMID: 20198480; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC2880609.

- Lackie RE, Maciejewski A, Ostapchenko VG, Marques-Lopes J, Choy WY, Duennwald ML, Prado VF, Prado MAM. The Hsp70/Hsp90 Chaperone Machinery in Neurodegenerative Diseases. Front Neurosci. 2017 May 16;11:254. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2017.00254. eCollection 2017. Review. PubMed PMID: 28559789; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC5433227.
- Lackie RE et al. (2018). A hypomorphic STIP1 allele reveals the requirement for chaperone networks in neuronal aging. Manuscript preprint for publication.
- Lagier-Tourenne C, Polymenidou M, Cleveland DW. TDP-43 and FUS/TLS: emerging roles in RNA processing and neurodegeneration. Hum Mol Genet. 2010 Apr 15;19(R1):R46-64. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddq137. Epub 2010 Apr 15. Review. PubMed PMID: 20400460; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC3167692.
- Laskey RA, Honda BM, Mills AD, Finch JT. Nucleosomes are assembled by an acidic protein which binds histones and transfers them to DNA. Nature. 1978 Oct 5;275(5679):416-20. PubMed PMID: 692721. Cited in PMCRelated citations
- Lautenschläger J, Kaminski CF, Kaminski Schierle GS. α-Synuclein Regulator of Exocytosis, Endocytosis, or Both? Trends Cell Biol. 2017 Jul;27(7):468-479. doi: 10.1016/j.tcb.2017.02.002. Epub 2017 Mar 2. Review. PubMed PMID: 28259601.
- Lee CT, Graf C, Mayer FJ, Richter SM, Mayer MP (2012) Dynamics of the regulation of Hsp90 by the co-chaperone STIP1. *The EMBO journal* 31:1518-28
- Lee S.-J., Lim H.-S., Masliah E., Lee H.-J. Protein aggregate spreading in neurodegenerative diseases: problems and perspectives. *Neuroscience Research*. 2011;70(4):339–348. doi: 10.1016/j.neures.2011.05.008. [PMC free article] [PubMed] [Cross Ref]
- Lima, F. R., Arantes, C. P., Muras, A. G., Nomizo, R., Brentani, R. R., and Martins, V. R. (2007) Cellular prion protein expres- sion in astrocytes modulates neuronal survival and differentia- tion. *J. Neurochem.* 103, 2164–2176
- Li HR, Chiang WC, Chou PC, Wang WJ, Huang JR. TAR DNA-binding protein 43 (TDP-43) liquid-liquid phase separation is mediated by just a few aromatic residues. J Biol Chem. 2018 Apr 20;293(16):6090-6098. doi: 10.1074/jbc.AC117.001037. Epub 2018 Mar 6. PubMed PMID: 29511089; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC5912450.
- Li S, Zhou Y, Fan J, Cao S, Cao T, Huang F, Zhuang S, Wang Y, Yu X, Mao H. Heat shock protein 72 enhances autophagy as a protective mechanism in lipopolysaccharide-induced peritonitis in rats. Am J Pathol. 2011 Dec;179(6):2822-34. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2011.08.013. Epub 2011 Oct 11. PubMed PMID: 22001349; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC3260826.
- Liao DF, Jin ZG, Baas AS, Daum G, Gygi SP, Aebersold R, Berk BC. Purification and identification of secreted oxidative stress-induced factors from vascular smooth muscle cells. J Biol Chem. 2000 Jan 7;275(1):189-96. PubMed PMID: 10617604.
- Linden R, Martins VR, Prado MA, Cammarota M, Izquierdo I, Brentani RR. Physiology of the prion protein. Physiol Rev. 2008 Apr;88(2):673-728. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00007.2007. Review. PubMed PMID: 18391177.
- Lindquist S. Regulation of protein synthesis during heat shock. Nature 1981;293:311–314.

- Ling H, Holton JL, Lees AJ, Revesz T. TDP-43 pathology is present in most postencephalitic parkinsonism brains. Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol. 2014 Aug;40(5):654-7. doi: 10.1111/nan.12067. PubMed PMID: 23763789.
- Ling SC, Polymenidou M, Cleveland DW. Converging mechanisms in ALS and FTD: disrupted RNA and protein homeostasis. Neuron. 2013 Aug 7;79(3):416-38. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2013.07.033. Review. PubMed PMID: 23931993; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC4411085.
- Liu L, Chan C. The role of inflammasome in Alzheimer's disease. Ageing research reviews. 2014 Feb 19;15C:6–15. [PMC free article] [PubMed]
- Liu-Yesucevitz L, Bilgutay A, Zhang YJ, et al. Tar DNA binding protein-43 (TDP-43) associates with stress granules: analysis of cultured cells and pathological brain tissue. PLoS One 2010;5: e13250.
- Liu-Yesucevitz L, Lin AY, Ebata A, et al. ALS-linked mutations enlarge TDP-43enriched neuronal RNA granules in the dendritic arbor. J Neurosci 2014;34:4167– 4174.
- Ilieva EV, Ayala V, Jové M, Dalfó E, Cacabelos D, Povedano M, Bellmunt MJ, Ferrer I, Pamplona R, Portero-Otín M. Oxidative and endoplasmic reticulum stress interplay in sporadic amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Brain. 2007 Dec;130(Pt 12):3111-23. Epub 2007 Aug 23. PubMed PMID: 17716997.
- Longshaw VM, Chapple JP, Balda MS, Cheetham ME, Blatch GL. Nuclear translocation of the Hsp70/Hsp90 organizing protein mSTI1 is regulated by cell cycle kinases. J Cell Sci. 2004 Feb 15;117(Pt 5):701-10. PubMed PMID: 14754904.
- Lopes MH, Hajj GN, Muras AG, Mancini GL, Castro RM, Ribeiro KC, Brentani RR, Linden R, Martins VR. Interaction of cellular prion and stress-inducible protein 1 promotes neuritogenesis and neuroprotection by distinct signaling pathways. J Neurosci. 2005 Dec 7;25(49):11330-9. PubMed PMID: 16339028.
- Luo J, Benovic JL. G protein-coupled receptor kinase interaction with Hsp90 mediates kinase maturation. J Biol Chem. 2003 Dec 19;278(51):50908-14. Epub 2003 Oct 13. PubMed PMID: 14557268. Cited in PMCRelated citations
- Ma Y, Zhang L, Huang X. Genome modification by CRISPR/Cas9. FEBS J. 2014 Dec;281(23):5186-93. doi: 10.1111/febs.13110. Epub 2014 Nov 7. Review. PubMed PMID: 25315507.
- Maaroufi H, Tanguay RM. Analysis and phylogeny of small heat shock proteins from marine viruses and their cyanobacteria host. PLoS One. 2013 Nov 12;8(11):e81207. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0081207. eCollection 2013. PubMed PMID: 24265841; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC3827213. Free full textCited in PMCRelated citations
- Maciejewski A, Ostapchenko VG, Beraldo FH, Prado VF, Prado MA, Choy WY. Domains of STIP1 responsible for regulating PrPC-dependent amyloid-β oligomer toxicity. Biochem J. 2016 Jul 15;473(14):2119-30. doi: 10.1042/BCJ20160087. Epub 2016 May 17. PubMed PMID: 27208175.
- Mackenzie IR. The neuropathology of FTD associated With ALS. Alzheimer Dis Assoc Disord. 2007 Oct-Dec;21(4):S44-9. Review. PubMed PMID: 18090423.
- Maiti P, Manna J, Veleri S, Frautschy S. Molecular chaperone dysfunction in

neurodegenerative diseases and effects of curcumin. Biomed Res Int. 2014;2014:495091. doi: 10.1155/2014/495091. Epub 2014 Oct 19. Review. PubMed PMID: 25386560; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC4217372. Free full textCited in PMCRelated citations

- Mak SK, McCormack AL, Manning-Bog AB, Cuervo AM, Di Monte DA. Lysosomal degradation of alpha-synuclein *in vivo*. J Biol Chem. 2010;285:13621– 13629. [PMC free article] [PubMed]
- Marcy E. Macdonald, Christine M. Ambrose, Mabel P. Duyao. A novel gene containing a trinucleotide repeat that is expanded and unstable on Huntington's disease chromosomes. The Huntington's Disease Collaborative Research Group. Cell. 1993 Mar 26;72(6):971-83.
- Martins-Silva C, De Jaeger X, Guzman MS, Lima RD, Santos MS, Kushmerick C, Gomez MV, Caron MG, Prado MA, Prado VF. Novel strains of mice deficient for the vesicular acetylcholine transporter: insights on transcriptional regulation and control of locomotor behavior. PLoS One. 2011 Mar 10;6(3):e17611. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0017611. PubMed PMID: 21423695; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC3053374. Free full textCited in PMCRelated citations
- Mayer MP, Bukau B. Molecular chaperones: the busy life of Hsp90. Curr Biol. 1999 May 6;9(9):R322-5. Review. PubMed PMID: 10322107.
- Mayer MP, Bukau B. Hsp70 chaperones: cellular functions and molecular mechanism. Cell Mol Life Sci. 2005 Mar;62(6):670-84. Review. PubMed PMID: 15770419; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC2773841. Free full textCited in PMCRelated citations
- McDonald KK, Aulas A, Destroismaisons L, et al. TAR DNA- binding protein 43 (TDP-43) regulates stress granule dynamics via differential regulation of G3BP and TIA-1. Hum Mol Genet 2011;20:1400–1410.
- Meacham GC, Patterson C, Zhang W, Younger JM, Cyr DM. The Hsc70 cochaperone CHIP targets immature CFTR for proteasomal degradation. Nat Cell Biol. 2001 Jan;3(1):100-5. PubMed PMID: 11146634. Cited in PMCRelated citations
- Meimaridou E, Gooljar SB, Chapple JP. From hatching to dispatching: the multiple cellular roles of the Hsp70 molecular chaperone machinery. J Mol Endocrinol. 2009 Jan;42(1):1-9. doi: 10.1677/JME-08-0116. Epub 2008 Oct 13. Review. PubMed PMID: 18852216. Cited in PMCRelated citations
- Meriin AB, Sherman MY. Role of molecular chaperones in neurodegenerative disorders. Int J Hyperthermia. 2005 Aug;21(5):403-19. Review. PubMed PMID: 16048838. Cited in PMCRelated citations
- Metz K, Ezernieks J, Sebald W, Duschl A. Interleukin-4 upregulates the heat shock protein Hsp90alpha and enhances transcription of a reporter gene coupled to a single heat shock element. FEBS letters. 1996 Apr 29;385(1–2):25–28. [PubMed]
- Meyer P, Prodromou C, Hu B, Vaughan C, Roe SM, Panaretou B, Piper PW, Pearl LH. Structural and functional analysis of the middle segment of hsp90: implications for ATP hydrolysis and client protein and cochaperone interactions. Mol Cell. 2003 Mar;11(3):647-58. PubMed PMID: 12667448.Cited in PMCRelated citations
- Meyer P, Prodromou C, Liao C, Hu B, Roe SM, Vaughan CK, Vlasic I, Panaretou

B, Piper PW, Pearl LH. Structural basis for recruitment of the ATPase activator Aha1 to the Hsp90 chaperone machinery. EMBO J. 2004 Mar 24;23(6):1402-10. PubMed PMID: 15039704; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC381413. Free full textCited in PMCRelated citations

- Migliorini D, Lazzerini Denchi E, Danovi D, Jochemsen A, Capillo M, Gobbi A, Helin K, Pelicci PG, Marine JC. Mdm4 (Mdmx) regulates p53-induced growth arrest and neuronal cell death during early embryonic mouse development. Mol Cell Biol. 2002 Aug;22(15):5527-38. PubMed PMID: 12101245; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC133932. Free full textCited in PMCRelated citations
- Morimoto RI. Regulation of the heat shock transcriptional response: cross talk between a family of heat shock factors, molecular chaperones, and negative regulators. Genes Dev. 1998 Dec 15;12(24):3788-96. Review. PubMed PMID: 9869631. Cited in PMCRelated citations
- Motohashi K, Watanabe Y, Yohda M, Yoshida M. Heat-inactivated proteins are rescued by the DnaK.J-GrpE set and ClpB chaperones. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1999 Jun 22;96(13):7184-9. PubMed PMID: 10377389; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC22047. Free full textCited in PMCRelated citations
- Muchowski P. J., Schaffar G., Sittler A., Wanker E. E., Hayer-Hartl M. K., Hartl F. U. Hsp70 and Hsp40 chaperones can inhibit self-assembly of polyglutamine proteins into amyloid-like fibrils. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*. 2000;97(14):7841–7846. doi: 10.1073/pnas.140202897. [PMC free article] [PubMed] [Cross Ref]
- Muller P, Hrstka R, Coomber D, Lane DP, Vojtesek B. Chaperone-dependent stabilization and degradation of p53 mutants. Oncogene. 2008 May 29;27(24):3371-83. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc.1211010. Epub 2008 Jan 28. PubMed PMID: 18223694. Cited in PMCRelated citations
- Murphy NA, Arthur KC, Tienari PJ, Houlden H, Chiò A, Traynor BJ. Age-related penetrance of the C9orf72 repeat expansion. Sci Rep. 2017 May 18;7(1):2116. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-02364-1. PubMed PMID: 28522837; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC5437033.
- Nam HJ, Boo K, Kim D, Han DH, Choe HK, Kim CR, Sun W, Kim H, Kim K, Lee H, Metzger E, Schuele R, Yoo SH, Takahashi JS, Cho S, Son GH, Baek SH. Phosphorylation of LSD1 by PKCα is crucial for circadian rhythmicity and phase resetting. Mol Cell. 2014 Mar 6;53(5):791-805. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2014.01.028. Epub 2014 Feb 27. PubMed PMID: 24582500.
- Nakai A, Morimoto RI. Characterization of a novel chicken heat shock transcription factor, heat shock factor 3, suggests a new regulatory pathway. Mol Cell Biol. 1993 Apr;13(4):1983-97. PubMed PMID: 8455593; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC359520. Free full textCited in PMCRelated citations
- Nathan DF, Vos MH, Lindquist S. In vivo functions of the Saccharomyces cerevisiae Hsp90 chaperone. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1997 Nov 25;94(24):12949-56. PubMed PMID: 9371781; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC24244.Free full textCited in PMCRelated citations
- Nelson PT, Jicha GA, Schmitt FA, Liu H, Davis DG, Mendiondo MS, Abner EL, Markesbery WR. Clinicopathologic correlations in a large Alzheimer disease center

autopsy cohort: neuritic plaques and neurofibrillary tangles "do count" when staging disease severity. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol. 2007 Dec;66(12):1136-46.

- Neumann M, Sampathu DM, Kwong LK, Truax AC, Micsenyi MC, Chou TT, Bruce J, Schuck T, Grossman M, Clark CM, McCluskey LF, Miller BL, Masliah E, Mackenzie IR, Feldman H, Feiden W, Kretzschmar HA, Trojanowski JQ, Lee VM. Ubiquitinated TDP-43 in frontotemporal lobar degeneration and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Science. 2006 Oct 6;314(5796):130-3.
- NeuroScience Canada. One in three Canadians will be affected by a brain disease, disorder or injury. https://braincanada.ca/wpcontent/uploads/2017/09/case_news_release.pdf
- Neve RL, Finch EA, Dawes LR. Expression of the Alzheimer amyloid precursor gene transcripts in the human brain. Neuron. 1988 Oct;1(8):669-77. PubMed PMID: 2908447. Cited in PMCRelated citations
- Nicolet, C. M., and Craig, E. A. (1989). Isolation and characterization of STIP1, a stress-inducible gene from *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 9, 3638–3646. doi: 10.1128/MCB.9.9.3638
- O'Brien RJ, Wong PC. Amyloid precursor protein processing and Alzheimer's disease. Annu Rev Neurosci. 2011;34:185-204. doi: 10.1146/annurev-neuro-061010-113613. Review. PubMed PMID: 21456963; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC3174086.
- Oakley H, Cole SL, Logan S, Maus E, Shao P, Craft J, Guillozet-Bongaarts A, Ohno M, Disterhoft J, Van Eldik L, Berry R, Vassar R. Intraneuronal beta-amyloid aggregates, neurodegeneration, and neuron loss in transgenic mice with five familial Alzheimer's disease mutations: potential factors in amyloid plaque formation. J Neurosci. 2006 Oct 4;26(40):10129-40. PubMed PMID: 17021169. Cited in PMCRelated citations
- Oddo S, Caccamo A, Shepherd JD, Murphy MP, Golde TE, Kayed R, Metherate R, Mattson MP, Akbari Y, LaFerla FM. Triple-transgenic model of Alzheimer's disease with plaques and tangles: intracellular Abeta and synaptic dysfunction. Neuron. 2003 Jul 31;39(3):409-21. PubMed PMID: 12895417.
- Ontario Brain Institute. Neurodegenerative Disorders, Why study neurodegenerative disorders? http://braininstitute.ca/research-data-sharing/neurodegenerative-disorders (2017).
- Orenstein SJ, Cuervo AM. Chaperone-mediated autophagy: molecular mechanisms and physiological relevance. Semin Cell Dev Biol. 2010;21:719–726. [PMC free article] [PubMed]
- Orenstein SJ, Kuo SH, Tasset I, et al. Interplay of LRRK2 with chaperone-mediated autophagy. Nat Neurosci. 2013;16:394–406. [PMC free article] [PubMed]
- Ostapchenko V. G., Beraldo F. H., Mohammad A. H., Xie Y. F., Hirata P. H., Magalhaes A. C., Lamour G., Li H., Maciejewski A., Belrose J. C., Teixeira B. L., Fahnestock M., Ferreira S. T., Cashman N. R., Hajj G. N., et al. (2013) The prion protein ligand, stress-inducible phosphoprotein 1, regulates amyloid-β oligomer toxicity. J. Neurosci. 33, 16552–16564
- Ou SH, Wu F, Harrich D, Garcia-Martinez LF, Gaynor RB. Cloning and characterization of a novel cellular protein, TDP-43, that binds to human

immunodeficiency virus type 1 TAR DNA sequence mo- tifs. J Virol 1995;69:3584–3596.

- Pearl LH, Prodromou C. Structure and mechanism of the Hsp90 molecular chaperone machinery. Annu Rev Biochem. 2006;75:271-94. Review. PubMed PMID: 16756493. Cited in PMCRelated citations
- Peattie DA, Harding MW, Fleming MA, DeCenzo MT, Lippke JA, Livingston DJ, Benasutti M. Expression and characterization of human FKBP52, an immunophilin that associates with the 90-kDa heat shock protein and is a component of steroid receptor complexes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1992 Nov 15;89(22):10974-8. PubMed PMID: 1279700; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC50465.
- Petrucelli L, Dickson D, Kehoe K, Taylor J, Snyder H, Grover A, De Lucia M, McGowan E, Lewis J, Prihar G, Kim J, Dillmann WH, Browne SE, Hall A, Voellmy R, Tsuboi Y, Dawson TM, Wolozin B, Hardy J, Hutton M. CHIP and Hsp70 regulate tau ubiquitination, degradation and aggregation. Hum Mol Genet. 2004 Apr 1;13(7):703-14. Epub 2004 Feb 12. PubMed PMID: 14962978. Cited in PMCRelated citations
- Picard D. Heat-shock protein 90, a chaperone for folding and regulation. Cell Mol Life Sci. 2002 Oct;59(10):1640-8. Review. PubMed PMID: 12475174.Cited in PMCRelated citations
- Pierpaoli EV, Gisler SM, Christen P. Sequence-specific rates of interaction of target peptides with the molecular chaperones DnaK and DnaJ. Biochemistry. 1998 Nov 24;37(47):16741-8. PubMed PMID: 9843444. Cited in PMCRelated citations
- Pike CJ, Walencewicz AJ, Glabe CG, Cotman CW. In vitro aging of beta-amyloid protein causes peptide aggregation and neurotoxicity. Brain Res. 1991 Nov 1;563(1-2):311-4.
- Piper PW, Millson SH, Mollapour M, Panaretou B, Siligardi G, Pearl LH, Prodromou C (2003) Sensitivity to Hsp90-targeting drugs can arise with mutation to the Hsp90 chaperone, cochaperones and plasma membrane ATP binding cassette transporters of yeast. *Eur J Biochem* 270: 4689-95
- Price JL. The relationship between tangle and plaque formation during healthy aging and mild dementia. Neurobiol Aging. 1993 Nov-Dec;14(6):661-
- Qiu XB, Shao YM, Miao S, Wang L. The diversity of the DnaJ/Hsp40 family, the crucial partners for Hsp70 chaperones. Cell Mol Life Sci. 2006 Nov;63(22):2560-70. Review. PubMed PMID: 16952052. Cited in PMCRelated citations
- Queitsch C, Hong SW, Vierling E, Lindquist S. Heat shock protein 101 plays a crucial role in thermotolerance in Arabidopsis. Plant Cell. 2000 Apr;12(4):479-92. PubMed PMID: 10760238; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC139847. Free full textCited in PMCRelated citations
- Rabindran SK, Haroun RI, Clos J, Wisniewski J, Wu C. Regulation of heat shock factor trimer formation: role of a conserved leucine zipper. Science. 1993 Jan 8;259(5092):230-4. PubMed PMID: 8421783. Cited in PMCRelated citations
- Ramaswamy S., Shannon K. M., Kordower J. H. Huntington's disease: pathological mechanisms and therapeutic strategies. *Cell Transplantation*. 2007;16(3):301–312. [PubMed]
- Ranford JC, Henderson B. Chaperonins in disease: mechanisms, models, and

treatments. Mol Pathol. 2002 Aug;55(4):209-13. Review. PubMed PMID: 12147708; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC1187180. Free full textCited in PMCRelated citations

- Ravagnan L., Gurbuxani S., Susin S. A., Maisse C., Daugas E., Zamzami N., Mak T., Jäättelä M., Penninger J. M., Garrido C., Kroemer G. Heat-shock protein 70 antagonizes apoptosis-inducing factor. *Nature Cell Biology*. 2001;3(9):839–843. doi: 10.1038/ncb0901-839. [PubMed] [Cross Ref]
- Rein T. FK506 binding protein 51 integrates pathways of adaptation: FKBP51 shapes the reactivity to environmental change. Bioessays. 2016 Sep;38(9):894-902. doi: 10.1002/bies.201600050. Epub 2016 Jul 4. Review. PubMed PMID: 27374865.
- Rérole AL, Jego G, Garrido C. Hsp70: anti-apoptotic and tumorigenic protein. Methods Mol Biol. 2011;787:205-30. doi: 10.1007/978-1-61779-295-3_16. PubMed PMID: 21898238. Cited in PMCRelated citations
- Retzlaff M, Hagn F, Mitschke L, Hessling M, Gugel F, Kessler H, Richter K, Buchner J. Asymmetric activation of the hsp90 dimer by its cochaperone aha1. Mol Cell. 2010 Feb 12;37(3):344-54. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2010.01.006. PubMed PMID: 20159554.
- RITOSSA P. [Problems of prophylactic vaccinations of infants]. Riv Ist Sieroter Ital. 1962 MarApr;37:79-108. Italian. PubMed PMID: 14492506.
- Rohde M, Daugaard M, Jensen MH, Helin K, Nylandsted J, Jäättelä M. Members of the heat-shock protein 70 family promote cancer cell growth by distinct mechanisms. Genes Dev. 2005 Mar 1;19(5):570-82. PubMed PMID: 15741319; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC551577. Free full textCited in PMCRelated citations
- Rohl A, Wengler D, Madl T, Lagleder S, Tippel F, Herrmann M, Hendrix J, Richter K, Hack G, Schmid AB, Kessler H, Lamb DC, Buchner J (2015b) Hsp90 regulates the dynamics of its cochaperone STIP1 and the transfer of Hsp70 between modules. *Nat Commun* 6: 6655
- Roos R. A. C. Huntington's disease: a clinical review. *Orphanet Journal of Rare Diseases*. 2010;5(1) article 40 doi: 10.1186/1750-1172-5-40. [PMC free article] [PubMed] [Cross Ref]
- Rüdiger S, Germeroth L, Schneider-Mergener J, Bukau B. Substrate specificity of the DnaK chaperone determined by screening cellulose-bound peptide libraries. EMBO J. 1997 Apr 1;16(7):1501-7. PubMed PMID: 9130695; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC1169754. Free full textCited in PMCRelated citations
- Rutherford SL, Lindquist S. Hsp90 as a capacitor for morphological evolution. Nature. 1998 Nov 26;396(6709):336-42. PubMed PMID: 9845070.
- Rutherford NJ, Zhang YJ, Baker M, et al. Novel mutations in TARDBP (TDP-43) in patients with familial amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. PLoS Genet 2008;4:e1000193.
- Sanchez Y, Lindquist SL. HSP104 required for induced thermotolerance. Science. 1990 Jun 1;248(4959):1112-5. PubMed PMID: 2188365. Cited in PMCRelated citations
- Sarge KD, Zimarino V, Holm K, Wu C, Morimoto RI. Cloning and characterization

111

of two mouse heat shock factors with distinct inducible and constitutive DNAbinding ability. Genes Dev. 1991 Oct;5(10):1902-11. PubMed PMID: 1717345. Cited in PMCRelated citations

- Scheufler, C., Brinker, A., Bourenkov, G., Pegoraro, S., Moroder, L., Bartunik, H., et al. (2000). Structure of TPR domain-peptide complexes: critical elements in the assembly of the Hsp70-Hsp90 multichaperone machine. *Cell* 101, 199–210. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(00)80830-2
- Schmid AB, Lagleder S, Grawert MA, Rohl A, Hagn F, Wandinger SK, Cox MB, Demmer O, Richter K, Groll M, Kessler H, Buchner J (2012b) The architecture of functional modules in the Hsp90 co-chaperone STIP1/Hop. *EMBO J*
- Schmid D, Baici A, Gehring H, Christen P. Kinetics of molecular chaperone action. Science. 1994 Feb 18;263(5149):971-3. PubMed PMID: 8310296. Cited in PMCRelated citations
- Schmitz TW, Nathan Spreng R; Alzheimer's Disease Neuroimaging Initiative.. Basal forebrain degeneration precedes and predicts the cortical spread of Alzheimer's pathology. Nat Commun. 2016 Nov 4;7:13249. doi: 10.1038/ncomms13249. PubMed PMID: 27811848; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC5097157.
- Scott MA, Locke M, Buck LT. Tissue-specific expression of inducible and constitutive Hsp70 isoforms in the western painted turtle. J Exp Biol. 2003 Jan;206(Pt 2):303-11. PubMed PMID: 12477900.
- Scotter EL, Chen HJ, Shaw CE. Erratum to: TDP-43 Proteinopathy and ALS: Insights into Disease Mechanisms and Therapeutic Targets. Neurotherapeutics. 2015 Apr;12(2):515-8. doi: 10.1007/s13311-015-0351-0. PubMed PMID: 25761971; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC4404465. Free full textCited in PMCRelated citations
- Selimovic D, Porzig BB, El-Khattouti A, Badura HE, Ahmad M, Ghanjati F, Santourlidis S, Haikel Y, Hassan M. Bortezomib/proteasome inhibitor triggers both apoptosis and autophagy-dependent pathways in melanoma cells. Cell Signal. 2013 Jan;25(1):308-18. doi: 10.1016/j.cellsig.2012.10.004. Epub 2012 Oct 15. Erratum in: Cell Signal. 2015 Mar;27(3):727. Cell Signal. 2015 May;27(5):1019-1020. PubMed PMID: 23079083.
- Sephton CF, Good SK, Atkin S, Dewey CM, Mayer P 3rd, Herz J, Yu G. TDP-43 is a developmentally regulated protein essential for early embryonic development. J Biol Chem. 2010 Feb 26;285(9):6826-34. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109.061846. Epub 2009 Dec 29. Erratum in: J Biol Chem. 2010 Dec 3;285(49):38740. PubMed PMID: 20040602; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC2825476.
- Shan X, Vocadlo D, Krieger C. Mislocalization of TDP-43 in the G93A mutant SOD1 transgenic mouse model of ALS. Neurosci Lett. 2009 Jul 17;458(2):70-4. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2009.04.031. Epub 2009 Apr 18. PubMed PMID: 19379791.
- Sharma A, Lyashchenko AK, Lu L, Nasrabady SE, Elmaleh M, Mendelsohn M, Nemes A, Tapia JC, Mentis GZ, Shneider NA. ALS-associated mutant FUS induces selective motor neuron degeneration through toxic gain of function. Nat Commun. 2016 Feb 4;7:10465. doi: 10.1038/ncomms10465. PubMed PMID: 26842965; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC4742863.

- Shastry B. S. Neurodegenerative disorders of protein aggregation. *Neurochemistry International.* 2003;43(1):1–7. doi: 10.1016/S0197-0186(02)00196-1. [PubMed] [Cross Ref]
- Shelton LB, Koren J 3rd, Blair LJ. Imbalances in the Hsp90 Chaperone Machinery: Implications for Tauopathies. Front Neurosci. 2017 Dec 22;11:724. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2017.00724. eCollection 2017. Review. PubMed PMID: 29311797; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC5744016.
- Shen J, Kelleher RJ 3rd. The presenilin hypothesis of Alzheimer's disease: evidence for a loss-of-function pathogenic mechanism. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2007 Jan 9;104(2):403-9. Epub 2006 Dec 29. Review. PubMed PMID: 17197420; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC1766397.
- Shi Y, Lan F, Matson C, Mulligan P, Whetstine JR, Cole PA, Casero RA, Shi Y. Histone demethylation mediated by the nuclear amine oxidase homolog LSD1. Cell. 2004 Dec 29;119(7):941-53. PubMed PMID: 15620353.
- Shiau AK, Harris SF, Southworth DR, Agard DA. Structural Analysis of E. coli hsp90 reveals dramatic nucleotide-dependent conformational rearrangements. Cell. 2006 Oct 20;127(2):329-40. PubMed PMID: 17055434. Cited in PMCRelated citations
- Simic G, Stanic G, Mladinov M, Jovanov-Milosevic N, Kostovic I, Hof PR. Does Alzheimer's disease begin in the brainstem? Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol. 2009 Dec;35(6):532-54. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2990.2009.01038.x. Epub 2009 Aug 4.
- Singleton KD, Wischmeyer PE. Effects of HSP70.1/3 gene knockout on acute respiratory distress syndrome and the inflammatory response following sepsis. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol. 2006 May;290(5):L956-61. Epub 2005 Dec 16. PubMed PMID: 16361353. Cited in PMCRelated citations
- Sikosek T, Chan HS. Correction to 'Biophysics of protein evolution and evolutionary protein biophysics'. J R Soc Interface. 2015 Nov 6;12(112). pii: 20150915. doi: 10.1098/rsif.2015.0915. PubMed PMID: 26554400; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC4685856.
- Soares, I. N., Caetano, F. A., Pinder, J., Rodrigues, B. R., Beraldo, F. H., Ostapchenko, V. G., et al. (2013). Regulation of stress-inducible phosphoprotein 1 nuclear retention by protein inhibitor of activated STAT PIAS1. *Mol. Cell. Proteomics* 12, 3253–3270. doi: 10.1074/mcp.M113.031005
- Song HO, Lee W, An K, Lee HS, Cho JH, Park ZY, Ahnn J. C. elegans STI-1, the homolog of Sti1/Hop, is involved in aging and stress response. J Mol Biol. 2009 Jul 24;390(4):604-17. doi: 10.1016/j.jmb.2009.05.035. Epub 2009 May 23. PubMed PMID: 19467242.
- Spillantini MG, Schmidt ML, Lee VM, Trojanowski JQ, Jakes R, Goedert M. Alpha-synuclein in Lewy bodies. Nature. 1997 Aug 28;388(6645):839-40.
- Squires CL, Pedersen S, Ross BM, Squires C. ClpB is the Escherichia coli heat shock protein F84.1. J Bacteriol. 1991 Jul;173(14):4254-62. PubMed PMID: 2066329; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC208084. Free full textCited in PMCRelated citations
- Sreedhar AS, Kalmár E, Csermely P, Shen YF. Hsp90 isoforms: functions, expression and clinical importance. FEBS Lett. 2004 Mar 26;562(1-3):11-5.

113

Review. PubMed PMID: 15069952. Cited in PMCRelated citations

- Sreedharan J, Blair IP, Tripathi VB, et al. TDP-43 mutations in familial and sporadic amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Science 2008;319:1668–1672.
- Statistics Canada. Alzheimer's disease and other dementias in Canada. https://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/82-003-x/2016005/article/14613-eng.htm
- Steeves CH, Potrykus J, Barnett DA, Bearne SL. Oxidative stress response in the opportunistic oral pathogen Fusobacterium nucleatum. Proteomics. 2011 May;11(10):2027-37. doi: 10.1002/pmic.201000631. PubMed PMID: 21563313. Cited in PMCRelated citations
- Street TO, Lavery LA, Verba KA, Lee CT, Mayer MP, Agard DA. Cross-monomer substrate contacts reposition the Hsp90 N-terminal domain and prime the chaperone activity. J Mol Biol. 2012 Jan 6;415(1):3-15. doi: 10.1016/j.jmb.2011.10.038. Epub 2011 Oct 31. PubMed PMID: 22063096; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC3282117.
- Summer;11(2):116-28. Review. PubMed PMID: 16817317; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC1484513. Free full textCited in PMCRelated citations
- Sun L, Chang J, Kirchhoff SR, Knowlton AA. Activation of HSF and selective increase in heat-shock proteins by acute dexamethasone treatment. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 2000 Apr;278(4):H1091-7. PubMed PMID: 10749702.
- Taipale M, Jarosz DF, Lindquist S. HSP90 at the hub of protein homeostasis: emerging mechanistic insights. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2010 Jul;11(7):515-28. doi: 10.1038/nrm2918. Epub 2010 Jun 9. Review. PubMed PMID: 20531426. Cited in PMCRelated citations
- Takeda S, McKay DB. Kinetics of peptide binding to the bovine 70 kDa heat shock cognate protein, a molecular chaperone. Biochemistry. 1996 Apr 9;35(14):4636-44. PubMed PMID: 8605215. Cited in PMCRelated citations
- Tatom JB, Wang DB, Dayton RD, Skalli O, Hutton ML, Dickson DW, Klein RL. Mimicking aspects of frontotemporal lobar degeneration and Lou Gehrig's disease in rats via TDP-43 overexpression. Mol Ther. 2009 Apr;17(4):607-13. doi: 10.1038/mt.2009.3. Epub 2009 Feb 17. PubMed PMID: 19223871; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC2835101.
- Tavaria M, Gabriele T, Kola I, Anderson RL. A hitchhiker's guide to the human Hsp70 family. Cell Stress Chaperones. 1996 Apr;1(1):23-8. Review. PubMed PMID: 9222585; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC313013. Free full textCited in PMCRelated citations
- Tissières A, Mitchell HK, Tracy UM. Protein synthesis in salivary glands of Drosophila melanogaster: relation to chromosome puffs. J Mol Biol. 1974 Apr 15;84(3):389-98. PubMed PMID: 4219221. Cited in PMCRelated citations
- Torrente MP, Chuang E, Noll MM, Jackrel ME, Go MS, Shorter J. Mechanistic Insights into Hsp104 Potentiation. J Biol Chem. 2016 Mar 4;291(10):5101-15. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M115.707976. Epub 2016 Jan 8. PubMed PMID: 26747608; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC4777845. Free full textCited in PMCRelated citations
- Triantafilou M, Sawyer D, Nor A, Vakakis E, Triantafilou K. Cell surface molecular chaperones as endogenous modulators of the innate immune response.

Novartis Foundation symposium. 2008;291:74–79. discussion 79–85, 137–40. [PubMed]

- Tsai CL, Chao AS, Jung SM, Lin CY, Chao A, Wang TH. Stress-induced phosphoprotein 1 acts as a scaffold protein for glycogen synthase kinase-3 betamediated phosphorylation of lysine-specific demethylase 1. Oncogenesis. 2018 Mar 29;7(3):31. doi: 10.1038/s41389-018-0040-z. PubMed PMID: 29593255; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC5874249.
- Tsai CL, Chao A, Jung SM, Tsai CN, Lin CY, Chen SH, Sue SC, Wang TH, Wang HS, Lai CH. Stress-induced phosphoprotein-1 maintains the stability of JAK2 in cancer cells. Oncotarget. 2016 Aug 2;7(31):50548-50563. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.10500. PubMed PMID: 27409672; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC5226602.
- Udan-Johns M, Bengoechea R, Bell S, et al. Prion-like nuclear aggregation of TDP-43 during heat shock is regulated by HSP40/ 70 chaperones. Hum Mol Genet 2014;23:157–170.
- Udan-Johns M, Bengoechea R, Bell S, Shao J, Diamond MI, True HL, Weihl CC, Baloh RH. Prion-like nuclear aggregation of TDP-43 during heat shock is regulated by HSP40/70 chaperones. Hum Mol Genet. 2014 Jan 1;23(1):157-70. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddt408. Epub 2013 Aug 19. PubMed PMID: 23962724; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC3857952. Free full textCited in PMCRelated citations
- Udan-Johns M, Bengoechea R, Bell S, Shao J, Diamond MI, True HL, Weihl CC, Baloh RH. Prion-like nuclear aggregation of TDP-43 during heat shock is regulated by HSP40/70 chaperones. Hum Mol Genet. 2014 Jan 1;23(1):157-70. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddt408. Epub 2013 Aug 19. PubMed PMID: 23962724; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC3857952. Free full textCited in PMCRelated citations
- Uryu K, Nakashima-Yasuda H, Forman MS, Kwong LK, Clark CM, Grossman M, Miller BL, Kretzschmar HA, Lee VM, Trojanowski JQ, Neumann M. Concomitant TAR-DNA-binding protein 43 pathology is present in Alzheimer disease and corticobasal degeneration but not in other tauopathies. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol. 2008 Jun;67(6):555-64. doi: 10.1097/NEN.0b013e31817713b5. PubMed PMID: 18520774.
- Uversky VN. The roles of intrinsic disorder-based liquid-liquid phase transitions in the "Dr. Jekyll-Mr. Hyde" behavior of proteins involved in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis and frontotemporal lobar degeneration. Autophagy. 2017;13(12):2115-2162. doi: 10.1080/15548627.2017.1384889. Epub 2017 Dec 17. PubMed PMID: 28980860; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC5788550.
- Van Deerlin VM, Leverenz JB, Bekris LM, et al. TARDBP muta- tions in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis with TDP-43 neuropathology: a genetic and histopathological analysis. Lancet Neurol 2008;7: 409–416.
- Vogiatzi T, Xilouri M, Vekrellis K, Stefanis L. Wild type alpha-synuclein is degraded by chaperone-mediated autophagy and macroautophagy in neuronal cells. J Biol Chem. 2008;283:23542–23556. [PMC free article] [PubMed]
- Vogt MA, Ehsaei Z, Knuckles P, Higginbottom A, Helmbrecht MS, Kunath T, Eggan K, Williams LA, Shaw PJ, Wurst W, Floss T, Huber AB, Taylor V. TDP-43 induces p53-mediated cell death of cortical progenitors and immature neurons. Sci

Rep. 2018 May 25;8(1):8097. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-26397-2. PubMed PMID: 29802307; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC5970242.

- Vos MJ, Hageman J, Carra S, Kampinga HH. Structural and functional diversities between members of the human HSPB, HSPH, HSPA, and DNAJ chaperone families. Biochemistry. 2008 Jul 8;47(27):7001-11. doi: 10.1021/bi800639z. Epub 2008 Jun 17. Review. PubMed PMID: 18557634. Cited in PMCRelated citations
- Voss AK, Thomas T, Gruss P. Mice lacking HSP90beta fail to develop a placental labyrinth. Development. 2000 Jan;127(1):1-11. PubMed PMID: 10654595.Cited in PMCRelated citations
- Walsh DM, Selkoe DJ. A beta oligomers a decade of discovery. J Neurochem. 2007 Jun;101(5):1172-84. Epub 2007 Feb 5. Review.
- Wang IF, Guo BS, Liu YC, et al. Autophagy activators rescue and alleviate pathogenesis of a mouse model with proteinopathies of the TAR DNA-binding protein 43. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2012;109
- Wang QM, Roach PJ, Fiol CJ. Use of a synthetic peptide as a selective substrate for glycogen synthase kinase 3. Anal Biochem. 1994 Aug 1;220(2):397-402. PubMed PMID: 7978284.
- Wegorzewska I, Bell S, Cairns NJ, Miller TM, Baloh RH. TDP-43 mutant transgenic mice develop features of ALS and frontotemporal lobar degeneration. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2009 Nov 3;106(44):18809-14. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0908767106. Epub 2009 Oct 15. PubMed PMID: 19833869; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC2762420.
- Werner-Washburne M, Stone DE, Craig EA. Complex interactions among members of an essential subfamily of hsp70 genes in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Mol Cell Biol. 1987 Jul;7(7):2568-77.
- Wilhelmus MM, de Waal RM, Verbeek MM. Heat shock proteins and amateur chaperones in amyloid-Beta accumulation and clearance in Alzheimer's disease. Mol Neurobiol. 2007 Jun;35(3):203-16. Review. PubMed PMID: 17917109; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC2039847.
- Wilhite R, Sage JM, Bouzid A, Primavera T, Agbas A. Platelet phosphorylated TDP-43: an exploratory study for a peripheral surrogate biomarker development for Alzheimer's disease. Future Sci OA. 2017 Aug 16;3(4):FSO238. doi: 10.4155/fsoa-2017-0090. eCollection 2017 Nov. PubMed PMID: 29134122; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC5674277
- Wils H, Kleinberger G, Janssens J, Pereson S, Joris G, Cuijt I, Smits V, Ceuterickde Groote C, Van Broeckhoven C, Kumar-Singh S. TDP-43 transgenic mice develop spastic paralysis and neuronal inclusions characteristic of ALS and frontotemporal lobar degeneration. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2010 Feb 23;107(8):3858-63. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0912417107. Epub 2010 Feb 3. PubMed PMID: 20133711; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC2840518.
- Wilson AC, Dugger BN, Dickson DW, Wang DS. TDP-43 in aging and Alzheimer's disease a review. Int J Clin Exp Pathol. 2011 Jan 30;4(2):147-55. Review.
- Winton MJ, Igaz LM, Wong MM, Kwong LK, Trojanowski JQ, Lee VM-Y. Disturbance of nuclear and cytoplasmic TAR DNA-binding protein (TDP-43)

induces disease-like redistribution, sequestration, and aggregate formation. J Biol

• Wolfe, K. J., Ren, H. Y., Trepte, P. & Cyr, D. M. The Hsp70/90 cochaperone, STIP1, suppresses proteotoxicity by regulating spatial quality control of amyloid-like proteins. *Mol Biol Cell* 24, 3588-3602, doi:10.1091/mbc.E13-06-0315 (2013).

Chem 2008;283:13302-13309

- Wong DS, Jay DG. Emerging Roles of Extracellular Hsp90 in Cancer. Adv Cancer Res. 2016;129:141-63. doi: 10.1016/bs.acr.2016.01.001. Epub 2016 Jan 21. Review. PubMed PMID: 26916004.
- Xu ZS. Does a loss of TDP-43 function cause neurodegeneration? Mol Neurodegener 2012;7:27.
- Yankner BA, Dawes LR, Fisher S, Villa-Komaroff L, Oster-Granite ML, Neve RL. Neurotoxicity of a fragment of the amyloid precursor associated with Alzheimer's disease. Science. 1989 Jul 28;245(4916):417-20.
- Yin H, Lin H. An epigenetic activation role of Piwi and a Piwi-associated piRNA in Drosophila melanogaster. Nature. 2007 Nov 8;450(7167):304-8. Epub 2007 Oct 21. PubMed PMID: 17952056.
- Young JC, Agashe VR, Siegers K, Hartl FU. Pathways of chaperone-mediated protein folding in the cytosol. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2004 Oct;5(10):781-91. Review. PubMed PMID: 15459659. Cited in PMCRelated citations
- Yuan MH, Zhou RS, She B, Xu HF, Wang JY, Wei LX. Expression and clinical significance of STIP1 in papillary thyroid carcinoma. Tumour Biol. 2014 Mar;35(3):2391-5. doi: 10.1007/s13277-013-1316-8. Epub 2013 Oct 27. PubMed PMID: 24163084.
- Zhang YJ, Gendron TF, Xu YF, Ko LW, Yen SH, Petrucelli L. Phosphorylation regulates proteasomal-mediated degradation and solubility of TAR DNA binding protein-43 C-terminal fragments. Mol Neurodegener. 2010 Aug 30;5:33. doi: 10.1186/1750-1326-5-33. PubMed PMID: 20804554; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC2941488. Free full textCited in PMCRelated citations
- Zhang F, Wen Y, Guo X. CRISPR/Cas9 for genome editing: progress, implications and challenges. Hum Mol Genet. 2014 Sep 15;23(R1):R40-6. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddu125. Epub 2014 Mar 20. Review. PubMed PMID: 24651067.
- Zolkiewski M. ClpB cooperates with DnaK, DnaJ, and GrpE in suppressing protein aggregation. A novel multi-chaperone system from Escherichia coli. J Biol Chem. 1999 Oct 1;274(40):28083-6. PubMed PMID: 10497158. Cited in PMC

Curriculum Vitae

| Name: | Abdul Razzaq |
|----------------|------------------------------------|
| Post-secondary | The University of Toronto |
| Education and | Toronto, Ontario, Canada |
| Degrees: | 2011-2016 HBSc |
| | The University of Western Ontario |
| | London, Ontario, Canada |
| | 2016-2018 MSc (Candidate) |
| Honours and | Dean's Honor List |
| Awards: | 2011, 2012, 2013, 2014, 2015, 2016 |
| Related Work | Physician Assistant |
| Experience: | Team Maple Walk-In Clinic |
| | 2013-2016 |
| | Descent Assistant |
| | Research Assistant |
| | Baycrest Health Sciences |
| | 2014-2015 |